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10h Std  
Unit -7 

Anti-Colonial Movements and The Birth of Nationalism 
 

1915.The rising popularity of Annie Besant was theother factor 
which compelled the moderatesto put up a common front against the 
colonialgovernment. In the Lucknow session of Indian 
National Congress (1916), it was decided toadmit the militant faction 
into the party. 
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 Tilak set up the first Home Rule League inApril 1916. In 
September 1916, after repeateddemands of her impatient followers, 
AnnieBesant decided to start the Home Rule Leaguewithout the support 
of Congress. Both theleagues worked independently. The HomeRule 
Leagues were utilised to carry extensivepropaganda through, press, 
speeches, publicmeetings, lectures, discussions and touring infavour of 
self-government. They succeeded inenrolling young people in large 
numbers andextending the movement to the rural areas.The Home Rule 
Movement in India borrowedmuch of its principles from the Irish 
HomeRule Movement. 
 
(b) Objectives of the Home Rule Movement 
 
 To attain self-government within then British Empire by using 

constitutionalmeans. 
 To obtain the status of dominion, a politicalposition accorded later 

to Australia,Canada, South Africa, and New Zealand. 
 To use non-violent constitutionalmethods to achieve their goals. 
 
(c) Lucknow Pact (1916) 
 
 The Home Rule Movement and thesubsequent reunion of 
moderate and themilitant nationalists opened the possibilityof fresh 
talks with the Muslims. Under theLucknow Pact (1916), the Congress 
and theMuslim League agreed that there should beself-government in 
India as soon as possible.In return, the Congress leadership acceptedthe 
concept of separate electorate for Muslims. 
 
(d) British Response 
 
 The response of the government ofBritish India to the Home Rule 
Movementwas not consistent. Initially it stated thatthere should be 
reform to accommodatemore Indians in local administrative bodies.As 
the demand for Swaraj was raised by Tilakand Annie Besant that gained 
popularity, theBritish used the same old ploy to isolate theleaders by 
repressing their activities. 
 
 In 1919 the British governmentannounced the Montagu-
Chelmsford reformswhich promised gradual progress of Indiatowards 
self-government. This caused deepdisappointment to Indian 
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nationalists. In afurther blow the government enacted whatwas called 
the Rowlatt Act which providedfor arbitrary arrest and strict 
punishment. 
 

 I mean by self-government thatthe country shall have a 
government bycouncils, elected by the people, elected withthe power 
of the purse and the governmentis responsible to the house…. India 
shoulddemand self-government not based onloyalty to the British 
government or as areward for her services in the war but asa right 
based on the principle of nationalself-determination. 
 
     — Annie Besant (in September 1915) 
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Unit – 8 
Nationalism: Gandhian Phase 

 
Learning Objectives 
To acquaint ourselves with 
 
 Gandhian phase of India‘s struggle for independence 
 Gandhi‘s policy of ahimsa and satyagraha tried and tested for 

mobilisation of the masses inIndia 
 Non-violent struggles in Champaran and against the Rowlatt Act 
 The Non-Cooperation Movement and its fallout 
 Emergence of radicals and revolutionaries and their part in the 

freedom movement 
 Launch of Civil Disobedience Movement 
 Issue of separate electorate and the signing of Poona Pact 
 First Congress Ministries in the provinces and circumstances 

leading to the launch of QuitIndia Movement 
 Communalism leading to partition of sub-continent into India and 

Pakistan 

 
Introduction 
 
 Mahatma Gandhi arrived in India in 1915from South Africa after 
fighting for the civilrights of the Indians there for about twentyyears. He 
brought with him a new impulseto Indian politics. He introduced 
satyagraha,which he had perfected in South Africa, thatcould be 
practiced by men and women, youngand old. As a person dedicated to 
the causeof the poorest of the poor, he instantly gainedthe goodwill of 
the masses. Before Gandhi,the constitutionalists appealed to the 
Britishsense of justice and fair play. The militantsconfronted the 
repression of the colonial stateviolently. Gandhi, in contrast, adopted 
nonviolentmethods to mobilise the masses andmount pressure on the 
British. In this lessonwe shall see how Gandhi transformed theIndian 
National Movement. 
 
Gandhi and Mass Nationalism 
(a) Evolution of Gandhi 
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 Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi was bornon 2 October 1869 into a 
well to do family inPorbandar, Gujarat. His father Kaba Gandhiwas the 
Diwan of Porbandar and later becamethe Diwan of Rajkot. His mother 
Putlibai, adevout Vaishanavite, influenced the youngGandhi. After 
passing the matriculationexamination, Gandhi sailed to England in1888 
to study law. After becoming a barristerin June 1891 Gandhi returned to 
India as afirm believer in British sense of justice andfair play. His 
experiences in London had notprepared him for the racial 
discrimination hewould encounter in South Africa. 
 
 On returning to India, Gandhi‘s attemptto practice in Bombay 
failed. It was duringthis time that a Gujarati firm in South Africa,sought 
the services of Gandhi for assistancein a law-suit. Gandhi accepted the 
offer andleft for South Africa in April 1893. Gandhifaced racial 
discrimination for the first timein South Africa. On his journey from 
Durbanto Pretoria, at the Pietermaritzburg railwaystation, he was 
physically thrown out of thefirst class compartment. Indians were 
treatedonly as coolies. But Gandhi was determinedto fight. 
 
 Gandhi called a meeting of the Indiansin the Transvaal and 
exhorted them toform an association to seek redress of theirgrievances. 
He continued to hold suchmeetings, petitioned to the authorities 
aboutthe injustices which were in violation of theirown laws. Indians in 
the Transvaal had to paya poll tax of £ 3, could not own land except 
inareas marked for them, and could not moveoutdoors after 9 p.m. 
without a permit. Helaunched a struggle against such unjust laws. 
 
 Gandhi was introduced to the worksof Tolstoy and John Ruskin. 
He was deeplyinfluenced by Tolstoy‘s The Kingdom ofGod is Within 
You, Ruskin‘s Unto this Lastand Thoreau‘s Civil Disobedience. 
Gandhi‘sideas were formed due to a blend of Indianand Western 
thought. Despite being deeplyinfluenced by Western thinkers he 
washighly critical of Western civilisation andindustrialisation. Inspired 
by Ruskin Gandhiestablished the Phoenix Settlement (1905)and the 
Tolstoy Farm (1910). Equality,community living and dignity of labour 
wereinculcated in these settlements. They weretraining grounds for the 
satyagrahis. 
 
Satyagraha as a Strategy in South Africa 
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 Gandhi developed satyagraha (devotionto the truth, truth-force) as 
a strategy, inwhich campaigners went on peaceful marchesand 
presented themselves for arrest in protestagainst unjust laws. He 
experimented withit for fighting the issues of immigrationand racial 
discrimination. Meetings wereheld and registration offices of 
immigrantswere picketed. Even when the police letloose violence no 
resistance was offered bythe satyagrahis. Gandhi and other leaderswere 
arrested. Indians, mostly indenturedlabourers turned hawkers 
continued thestruggle despite police brutality. Finally, bythe Smuts-
Gandhi Agreement the poll tax onindentured labourers was abolished. 
Gandhi‘sstay in South Africa was a learning experiencefor him. It was 
there that Gandhi realisedthat people of different religions, 
regions,linguistic groups could be welded into one tofight against 
exploitation. After the outbreakof the First World War, Gandhi returned 
toIndia. 
 
Gandhi’s Early Satyagrahas in India 
 
 Gandhi regarded Gopal KrishnaGokhale, whom he had met on 
previous visitsto India, as his political guru. On his advice,Gandhi 
travelled the length and breadth ofthe country before plunging into 
politics. Thisenabled him to understand the conditionsof the people. It is 
on one of these journeysthrough Tamil Nadu that Gandhi decided 
todiscard his following robes and wear a simpledhoti. Gandhi before 
returning to Indiavisited England where he enlisted for theWar to offer 
ambulance services. Consideringhimself a responsible citizen of the 
Empire hebelieved it was his duty to support Englandin its difficult 
times and even campaignedfor the recruitment of Indians in the 
army.However, his views changed over the years. 
 
(a) Champaran Satyagraha 
 
 In Champaran in Bihar the tinkathia systemwas practiced. Under 
this exploitative system thepeasants were forced by the European 
plantersto cultivate indigo on three-twentieths of theirland holdings. 
Towards the end of nineteenthcentury German synthetic dyes had 
forcedindigo out of the market. The European plantersof Champaran, 
while realising the necessity ofrelieving the cultivators of the obligation 
ofcultivating indigo, wanted to turn the situationto their advantage. 
They enhanced the rent andcollected illegal dues as a price for the 
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releaseof cultivators from the obligation. Resistanceerupted. Rajkumar 
Shukla, an agriculturistfrom Champaran who suffered hardshipsof the 
system, prevailed on Gandhi to visitChamparan. On reaching 
Chamaparan, Gandhiwas asked by the police to leave 
immediately.When he refused he was summoned for trial.The news 
spread like wild fire and thousandsswarmed the place in support of 
Gandhi. Gandhipleaded guilty of disobeying the order, and thecase had 
to be finally withdrawn. According toGandhi, ―The country thus had its 
first objectlessonin Civil Disobedience‖. He was assistedby Brajkishore 
Prasad, a lawyer by profession,and Rajendra Prasad, who became the 
firstPresident of independent India. The LieutenantGovernor eventually 
formed a committee withGandhi as a member which recommendedthe 
abolition of the tinkathia system, therebyending the oppression of the 
peasants by theIndigo Planters. 
 
 The success of Champaran satyagraha,followed by his fruitful 
intervention inAhmedabad mill strike (1918) and the KhedaSatyagraha 
(1918) helped Gandhi establishhimself as a leader of mass struggle. 
Unlikeearlier leaders, Gandhi demonstrated hisability to mobilise the 
common people acrossthe country. 
 
(b) Rowlatt Satyagraha and Jallianwala Bagh Massacre 
 
 In the aftermath of the First World War,people expected liberal 
political reforms fromthe British. The Government of India Act1919, 
however, caused disappointment, as itdid not transfer real power to the 
Indians.Besides, the government began to enforce thepermanent 
extension of war time restrictions.The Rowlatt Act was enacted which 
providedfor excessive police powers, arrest withoutwarrant and 
detention without trial. Gandhicalled it a ‗Black Act‘ and in protest 
called fora nation-wide satyagraha on 6 April 1919. Itwas to be a non-
violent struggle with fastingand prayer, and it was the earliest 
anticolonialstruggle spread across the country.The anti-Rowlatt protest 
was intense inPunjab, especially in Amritsar and Lahore. 
 
 Gandhi was arrested and prevented fromvisiting Punjab. On 9 
April two prominentlocal leaders Dr. Saifuddin Kitchlew and 
Dr.Satyapal were arrested in Amritsar leadingto protests in which a few 
Europeans werekilled. Martial law was declared. 
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General Dyer’s Brutality 
 
 On 13 April 1919 apublic meeting was arrangedat Jallianwala Bagh 
inAmritsar. As it happenedto be Baisaki day (springharvest festival of 
Sikhs) thevillagers had assembled there in thousands.General Reginald 
Dyer, on hearing of theassemblage, surrounded the place with histroops 
and an armoured vehicle. The onlyentrance to the park that was 
surroundedThe brutality enraged Indians. RabindranathTagore 
returned his knighthood. Gandhisurrendered his Kaiser-i-Hind medal. 
 
(c) Khilafat Movement 
 
 The First World War came to an end in 1918.The Caliph of Turkey, 
who was considered thehead of Muslims of the world, was given a 
harshtreatment. A movement was started his supportcalled the Khilafat 
Movement. Led by the Alibrothers, Maulana Mohamed Ali and 
MaulanaShaukat Ali, it aimed to restore the prestigeand power of the 
Caliphate. Gandhi supportedthe movement and saw in it an opportunity 
tounite Hindus and Muslims. He presided over the 
All India Khilafat Conference held at Delhi inNovember 1919. Gandhi 
supported Shaukat Ali‘sproposal of three national slogans, Allaho 
Akbar,Bande Mataram and Hindu-Musslamanki Jai.The Khilafat 
Committee meeting in Allahabad on9 June 1920 adopted Gandhi‘s non-
violent non-cooperation programme. Non-Cooperation wasto begin on 1 
August 1920. 
 
Non-Cooperation Movement and Its Fallout 
 
 The Indian National Congress approvedthe non-cooperation 
movement in a specialsession held in Calcutta on September 1920. 
It was subsequently passed in the NagpurSession held on December 
1920, Chairedby Salem C.Vijayaraghavachariar. Theprogramme of non-
cooperation included: 
 
1. Surrender of all titles of honours andhonorary offices. 
2. Non-participation in government functions. 
3. Suspension of practice by lawyers, andsettlement of court disputes 

by privatearbitration. 
4. Boycott of government schools by childrenand parents. 
5. Boycott of the legislature created under the1919 Act. 
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6. Non-participation in government partiesand other official 
functions. 

7. Refusal to accept any civil or military post. 
8. Boycott of foreign goods and spreading thedoctrine of Swadeshi. 
 
(a) No-Tax Campaign and Chauri Chaura Incident 
 
 Programmes such as no-tax campaignscaught the imagination of 
the kisans (peasants).Gandhi announced a no-tax campaign inBardoli in 
February 1922. These movementsgreatly enhanced Gandhi‘s reputation 
as anational leader, especially the peasants. Gandhimade a nation-wide 
tour. Wherever he visitedthere was a bonfire of foreign cloth. 
Thousandsleft government jobs, students gave up theirstudies in large 
numbers and the lawyers gaveup thriving practices. Boycott of British 
goodsand institutions were effective. The boycottof the Prince of Wales‘ 
visit to India wassuccessful. During this boycott trade unionsand 
workers participated actively. However,Gandhi suddenly withdrew the 
movementbecause of the Chauri Chaura incident. 
 
 On 5 February 1922 a procession of thenationalists in Chauri 
Chaura, a village nearGorakhpur in present-day Uttar Pradeshprovoked 
by the police turned violent. Thepolice finding themselves outnumbered 
shutthemselves inside the police station. The mobburnt the police station 
22 policemen losttheir lives. Gandhi immediately withdrewthe 
movement. This was done much againstthe wishes of many 
congressmen includingyoung leaders like Jawaharlal Nehru andSubhas 
Chandra Bose who thought themovement was gaining momentum. 
Gandhiwas arrested and was released only in 1924.Gandhi believed that 
the movement failed notbecause of any defect in the means 
employed,viz. non-violent non-cooperation but becauseof lack of 
sufficiently trained volunteers andleaders. Soon after the Khilafat 
Movementalso came to an end as the office of the Caliph(Caliphate) was 
abolished in Turkey. 
 
(b) Swarajists 
 
 Meanwhile Congress was dividedinto two groups viz. pro-
changers and nochangers.Some of the Congressmen ledby Motilal 
Nehru and C.R. Das wanted tocontest the elections and enter the 
legislature.They argued that the national interest couldbe promoted by 
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working in the LegislativeCouncils under Dyarchy and wrecking 
thecolonial government within. They werecalled the pro-changers. 
Staunch followersof Gandhi like Vallabhbhai Patel, C. Rajajiand others, 
known as no-changers, wantedto continue non-cooperation with 
thegovernment. Despite the opposition C.R. Dasand Motilal Nehru 
formed the Swaraj Partyon 1 January 1923, which was later approvedby 
a special session of the Congress. SwarajParty members were elected in 
large numbersto the Imperial Legislative Assembly and thevarious 
Provincial Legislative Councils. Theyeffectively used the legislature as a 
platformfor propagation of nationalist ideas. In Bengal,they refused to 
take charge of transferredsubjects, as they did not want to cooperatewith 
the government. They exposed the truenature of the colonial 
government. However,the Swaraj Party began to decline after thedeath 
of its leader C.R. Das in 1925. Someof the Swaraj Party members began 
to acceptgovernment offices. Swaraj Party withdrewfrom the legislatures 
in 1926. 
 

 Dyarchy, a system of dual governmentintroduced under the 
Government ofIndia Act 1919, divided the powers of theprovincial 
government into Reserved andTransferred subjects. The Reserved 
Subjectscomprising finance, defence, the police,justice, land revenue, 
and irrigation werein the hands of the British. The TransferredSubjects 
that included local self-government,education, public health, public 
works,agriculture, forests and fisheries were leftunder the control of 
Indian ministers. Thesystem ended with the introduction ofprovincial 
autonomy in 1935. 

 
(c) Constructive Programme of Gandhi 
 
 After the Chauri Chaura incident, Gandhifelt that the volunteers 
and the people had tobe trained for a non-violent struggle. As apart of 
this effort he focused on promotingKhadi, Hindu-Muslim unity and 
theabolition of untouchability. He exhorted theCongressmen, ―Go 
throughout your districtsand spread the message of Khaddar, 
themessage of Hindu-Muslim unity, the messageof anti-untouchability 
and take up in hand theyouth of the country and make them the 
realsoldiers of Swaraj.‖ He made it compulsory forall Congress 
members to wear khaddar. TheAll India Spinner‘s Association was 
formed.Gandhi believed that without attaining theseobjectives Swaraj 
could never be attained. 
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 Despite the cooperation of the Hindusand Muslims during the 
Khilafat Movementand the Non-Cooperation Movement, theunity was 
fragile. The 1920s saw a seriesof communal riots between the Hindusand 
the Muslims. Hindu Mahasabha wasgaining in popularity under Madan 
MohanMalaviya and the Muslim League underthe Ali Brothers. Gandhi 
undertook a 21-day a fast in between 1924 to appeal to thehearts of the 
Hindus and Muslims involvedin communal politics. Serious efforts 
byGandhi and Muhammad Ali Jinnah, who atthat time believed Swaraj 
was possible onlywith Hindu-Muslim unity, failed to stem 
thecommunal riots. 
 
(d) Boycott of Simon Commission 
 
 On 8 November 1927, the BritishGovernment announced the 
appointment ofthe Indian Statutory Commission. Composed ofseven 
members headed by Sir John Simon it cameto be widely known as the 
Simon Commission.It was an all-white commission with no 
Indianmember. Indians were angered that they had beendenied the 
right to decide their own constitution.All sections of India including the 
Congressand the Muslim League decided to boycott thecommission. 
Wherever the Commission wentthere were protests, and black flag 
marches withthe slogan ‗Go Back Simon‘. The protesters werebrutally 
assaulted by the police. In one suchassault in Lahore, Lal Lajpat Rai was 
seriouslyinjured and died a few days later. 
 
 (e) Nehru Report 
 
 The Simon boycott united the differentpolitical parties in India. An 
all party conferencewas held in 1928 with the objective to frame 
aconstitution for India as an alternative to theSimon Commission 
proposals. A committeeunder the leadership of Motilal Nehru 
wasformed to outline the principles on the basis ofwhich the 
constitution was to be drafted. Thecommittee‘s report, known as the 
Nehru Report,recommended, 
 
 Dominion status for India. 
 Elections of the Central Legislature andthe Provincial Legislatures on 

the basis ofjoint and mixed electorates. 
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 Reservation of seats for Muslims in theCentral Legislature and in 
provinceswhere they are in a minority and for theHindus in North-
West Frontier Provincewhere they were in a minority. 

 Provision of fundamental rights, anduniversal adult franchise. 
 
 Jinnah proposed anamendment to the reservation ofseats in the 
Central Legislature.He demanded that one-thirdof the seats be reserved 
forMuslims. Tej Bahadur Saprusupported him and pleaded thatit would 
make no big difference. However, it wasdefeated in the All Party 
Conference. Later heproposed a resolution which came to be knownas 
Jinnah‘s Fourteen Points. However, it was alsorejected. Jinnah who was 
hailed as Ambassadorof Hindu–Muslim Unity thereafter changed 
hisstand and began to espouse the cause of a separatenation for 
Muslims. 
 
The Struggle for Poorna Swaraj and Launch of Civil Disobedience 
Movement 
 
 Meanwhile some congressmen were notsatisfied with dominion 
status and wantedto demand complete independence. In theCongress 
session held in Lahore in December1929 with Jawaharlal Nehru as the 
President,Poorna Swaraj was declared as the goal. Itwas also decided to 
boycott the Round TableConference and launch a Civil 
DisobedienceMovement. 26 January 1930 was declared asIndependence 
Day and a pledge was takenall over the country to attain Poorna 
Swarajnon-violently through civil disobedienceincluding non-payment 
of taxes. The IndianNational Congress authorised Gandhi tolaunch the 
movement. 
 
(a) Salt Satyagraha Movement 
 
 A charter of demands presented to theViceroy Lord Irwin with an 
ultimatum tocomply by 31 January 1930 included: 
 
 Reduction of expenditure on armyand civil services by 50% 
 Introduction of total prohibition 
 Release of all political prisoners 
 Reduction of land revenue by 50% 
 Abolition of salt tax. 
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 When the Viceroy did not respond tothe charter of demands, 
Gandhi launched theCivil Disobedience Movement. The inclusionof 
abolition of salt tax was a brilliant tacticaldecision. Salt was an issue 
which affectedevery section of the society. It transformedCivil 
Disobedience Movement into a massmovement drawing all sections of 
thepopulation including women to the streets. Atthe break of dawn on 
12 March 1930 Gandhiset out from Sabarmati Ashram with 78 of 
itsinmates. The procession became larger andlarger when hundreds 
joined them along themarch. At the age of 61 Gandhi covered adistance 
of 241 miles in 24 days to reach Dandiat sunset on 5 April 1930. The next 
morning,he took a lump of salt breaking the salt law. 
 
Salt Satyagraha in Provinces 
 
 In Tamil Nadu, C. Rajaji led a similar saltmarch from 
Tiruchirappalli to Vedaranyam.Salt marches took place in Kerala, 
Andhraand Bengal. In the North West FrontierProvince Khan Abdul 
Ghaffar Khan ledthe movement. He organized the KhudaiKhidmatgar, 
also known as the Red Shirts.Government crushed the movement 
withbrutal force, causing in many casualties. Thesoldiers of the 
Garhwali regiment refused tofire on unarmed satyagrahis. 
 
 Gandhi was arrested at midnight andsent to Yeravada Jail. 
Jawaharlal Nehru,Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan and other leaderswere 
swiftly arrested. Soon other forms ofprotests such as boycott of foreign 
cloth,picketing of liquor shops, non-paymentof taxes, breaking of forest 
laws etc.were adopted. Women, peasants, tribals,students, even children 
and all sectionsparticipated in the nation-wide struggle. Itwas the 
biggest mass movement India hadever witnessed. More than 90,000 
peoplewere arrested. 
 

 The British enacted the first forest actin 1865. This act restricted 
the access of theforest dwellers to the forest areas to collectfirewood, 
cattle fodder and other minorforest produce such as honey, seeds, 
nuts,medicinal herbs. The Indian Forest Act of1878 claimed that 
original ownership offorests was with the state. Waste lands 
andfallow lands were included as forest. Siftingcultivation practiced 
by, the tribal people,was prohibited. Alienation of forestsfrom local 
control was stiffly resisted bythe aggrieved adivasis (tribals) and 
thenationalists. 
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 The most striking evidence ofcontinuing struggles of the tribal 
groupswas the one waged by Alluri Sitarama Rajuin Rampa. Raju 
made Adivasi areas in theEastern Ghats (the forest area along the 
Visakapatnam and Godavari district) hishome. The Adivasis who 
were organizedby Alluri Sitarama Raju lived in abjectpoverty. They 
were also harassed by police,forest and revenue officials in 
‗Manyam‘(forest area). Raju‘s efforts at fightingcorrupt officials to 
protect the interestsof Rampa tribals prompted the British totarget his 
life. A special Malabar Policeteam was sent to quell the uprisings 
(1922-24) of Rampa Adivasis. Alluri SitaramaRaju attained martyrdom 
for the cause offorest dwellers. 

 
(b) Round Table Conferences 
 
 In the midst of the movement the FirstRound Table Conference 
was held at Londonin November 1930. Ramsay Macdonald, theBritish 
Prime Minister, proposed a federalgovernment with provincial 
autonomy. Therewas a deadlock over the question of separateelectorates 
for the minorities. The Congressdid not attend it as its leaders were in 
jail.The Conference closed without any decisionon the question. It was 
clear that withoutCongress participation the discussionswere of no 
value. Gandhi was releasedunconditionally. 
 
(c) Gandhi-Irwin Pact 
 
 Lord Irwin held talks with Gandhi whichresulted in the Gandhi–
Irwin Pact on 5 March1931. The British agreed to the demand 
ofimmediate release of all political prisoners notinvolved in violence, 
return of confiscated landand lenient treatment of government 
employeeswho had resigned. It also permitted the peopleof coastal 
villages to make salt for consumptionand non-violent picketing. The 
Congress agreedto suspend the Civil Disobedience Movementand 
attend the conference. Gandhi attended theSecond Round Table 
Conference which beganon 7 September 1931. Gandhi refused to 
acceptseparate electorates for minorities. As a result,the second 
conference ended without any result. 
 
(d) Renewal of Civil Disobedience Movement. 
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 On returning to India, Gandhi revivedthe Civil Disobedience 
Movement. This timethe government was prepared to meet 
theresistance. Martial law was enforced and Gandhiwas arrested on 4 
January 1932. Soon all theCongress leaders were arrested too. 
Protestsand picketing by the people were suppressedwith force. Nearly 
80,000 people were arrestedwithin four months. The nationalist press 
wascompletely gagged. Despite Government‘srepressive measures it is 
worth mentioning here in that the movement continued till April 1934. 
 
 In the meantime, the Third Round TableConference was held from 
17 November to24 December 1932. The Congress did notparticipate in 
the conference as it had revivedthe Civil Disobedience Movement. 
 
(e) Communal Award and Poona Pact 
 
 On 16 August 1932, Ramsay MacDonald,announced the 
Communal Award. It providedseparate electorates to the minorities, 
viz.Muslims, Sikhs, Indian Christians, Anglo-Indiansand women and 
the ―depressed classes‖. Gandhistrongly opposed the inclusion of 
depressedclasses in the list of minorities. Gandhi argued thatit would 
not only divide the Hindus but also makethe campaign against 
untouchability meaningless,as they would be considered distinct from 
theHindus. However, he supported reservation ofseats. B.R. Ambedkar, 
the leader of the depressedclasses, strongly argued for the separate 
electorate,as it, according to him, would give them 
politicalrepresentation and power. On 20 September1932, Gandhi went 
on a fast unto death againstthe separate electorates for the depressed 
classes.Madan Mohan Malaviya, Rajendra Prasad andothers held talks 
with Ambedkar and M.C. Rajahthe leaders of the depressed classes. 
After intensenegotiations an agreement was arrived betweenGandhi and 
Ambedkar. Known as the PoonaPact, its main terms were: 
 
„„The principle of separate electorates wasabandoned. Instead, the 
principle of jointelectorate was accepted with reservationof seats for the 
depressed classes. 
„„Reserved seats for the depressed classeswere increased from 71 to 148. 
In theCentral Legislature 18 percent of theseats were reserved. 
 
(f) Campaign Against Untouchability 
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 Gandhi devotedthe next few yearstowards abolition 
ofuntouchability. Hisengagement withDr. B.R. Ambedkarmade a big 
impact onhis ideas about the castesystem. He shifted hisbase to the 
SatyagrahaAshram at Wardha. He undertook an all-India tour called the 
Harijan Tour. He startedthe Harijan Sevak Sangh to work for theremoval 
of discriminations. He worked topromote education, cleanliness and 
hygieneand giving up of liquor among the depressedclass. He also 
undertook two fasts in 1933for this cause. An important part of 
thecampaign was the Temple Entry Movement.8 January 1933 was 
observed as ‗TempleEntry Day‘. His campaign earned the ire ofthe 
orthodox Hindus and an attempt wasmade on his life by obscurantists 
upper casteHindus. But this did not deter his mission. 
The work among the depressed classes andthe tribals took the message 
of nationalismto the grassroots. 
 
Beginnings of Socialist Movements 
 
 Inspired by the RussianRevolution of 1917 theCommunist Party of 
India(CPI) was founded atTashkent, Uzbekistan inOctober 1920. M.N. 
Roy,Abani Mukherjee, andM.P.T. Acharya were someof its founding 
members.TheBritish government in India made vigorousefforts to 
suppress the communist movementby foisting a series of cases in the 
1920s. Ina further attempt to eliminate the threat ofcommunism M.N. 
Roy, S.A. Dange, MuzaffarAhmed, M. Singaravelar among others 
werearrested and tried in the Kanpur ConspiracyCase of 1924. The 
charge on them was ―todeprive the King Emperor of his sovereignty 
ofBritish India, by complete separation of Indiafrom imperialistic 
Britain.‖ 
 
(a) Foundation of Communist Party 
 
 The communists used it as a platformto propagate their views and 
to exposethe ‗true colour of British rule in India‘.In an attempt to form a 
party an All IndiaCommunist Conferencewas held at Kanpur in1925. 
Singaravelar gavethe Presidential Address.It led to the founding ofthe 
Communist Party ofIndia in Indian soil. TheCommunists 
organisedworkers‘ and peasants‘organisations in different parts of India. 
Anumber of strikes were organised in the 1920s.Their efforts eventually 
led to the establishmentof the All India Workers‘ and Peasants‘ Party 
in1928. The progress in this direction was haltedwith the Meerut 
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Conspiracy Case in 1929.Muzaffar Ahamed, S.A. Dange, S.V. Ghate,G. 
Adhikari, P.C. Joshi, S.S.Mirajkar, ShaukatUsmani, Philip Stratt and 
twenty-threeothers were arrested for organising a railwaystrike. They 
were charged with conspiring tooverthrow the British government of 
India. 
 
(b) Revolutionary Activities 
 
 The youths who were disillusioned withthe sudden withdrawal of 
the Non CooperationMovement by Gandhi took to violence. In1924 
Hindustan Republican Army (HRA) wasformed in Kanpur to overthrow 
the colonialrule by an armed rebellion. In 1925 RamPrasad Bismil, 
Ashfaqulla Khan and othersheld up a train carrying government 
moneyand looted in Kakori, a village near Lucknow.They were arrested 
and tried in the KakoriConspiracy Case. Four of them were sentencedto 
death while the others were sentenced toimprisonment. 
 
 Bhagat Singh, Sukhdev and theircomrades reorganized the HRA 
in Punjab.Influenced by socialist ideas they renamedit as Hindustan 
Socialist RepublicanAssociation in 1928. Sanders, a Britishpolice officer, 
responsible for the lathicharge that led to Lala Lajpat Rai‘s deathwas 
assassinated. Bhagat Singh along withB.K. Dutt threw a smoke bomb 
inside theCentral Legislative Assembly in 1929. It wasnot intended to 
hurt anyone. They threwpamphlets and shouted ‗Inquilab Zindabad‘and 
‗Long Live the Proletariat‘. He alongwith Rajguru was arrested and 
sentenced todeath. Bhagat Singh‘s daring and couragefired the 
imagination of the youth acrossIndia, and he became popular across 
India.During the Gandhi–Irwin negotiationsthere was wide-spread 
demand to includethe case of Bhagat Singh and Rajguru. TheViceroy 
was not willing to commute thedeath sentence. 
 
 In April 1930, theChittagong ArmouryRaid was carried outby 
Surya Sen andhis associates. Theycaptured the armoriesin Chittagong 
andproclaimed a provisionalrevolutionary government. They survived 
forthree years raiding government institutions.In 1933 Surya Sen was 
caught and hangedafter a year. 
(c) Left Movement in the 1930s 
 
 By the 1930s the Communist Party of Indiahad gained strength in 
view of the economiccrisis caused by world-wide Great 
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Depression.Britain transmitted the effects of Depressionto its colonies. 
The effects of Depressionwere reflected in decline in trade returns 
andfall in agricultural prices. The governmentalmeasures included 
forcible collection of landrevenue which in real terms had increasedtwo-
fold due to a 50% fall in agriculturalprices, the withdrawal of money in 
circulation,retrenchment of staff and expenditure ondevelopmental 
works. 
 
 In this context, the Communist Party,fighting for the cause of 
peasants and industrialworkers hit by loss of income and 
wagereduction, and problems of unemploymentgained influence and 
was therefore bannedin 1934. The Congress, as a movementwith a wide 
spectrum of political leanings,ranging from the extreme Left to the 
extremeRight, welded together by the goal of Swaraj,emerged as a 
powerful organisation. Therewas a constant struggle between the 
rightand left in the Congress during the 1930s. In1934 the Congress 
Socialist Party was formedby Jayaprakash Narayan, Acharya 
NarendraDev and Minoo Masani. They believed thatnationalism was 
the path to socialism andthat they would work within the Congress. 
They worked to make Congress pro-peasantand pro-worker 
 

 ‗Real Swaraj will come not by acquisitionof authority by a few, 
but by the acquisitionof the capacity by all to resist authority, 
whenabused.‘ - M. K. Gandhi 

 
First Congress Ministries under Government of India Act, 1935 
 
 The Government of India Act 1935 wasone of the important 
positive outcomes ofthe Civil Disobedience Movement. The keyfeatures 
of the Act were provincial autonomyand dyarchy at the centre. The Act 
providedfor an all India Federation with 11 provinces, 
6 Chief commissioner‘s provinces and allthose Princely states which 
wished to join thefederation. The Act also provided autonomyto the 
provinces. All the subjects weretransferred to the control of Indian 
ministers.Dyarchy that was in operation in provinceswas now extended 
to the central government.The franchise, based on property, 
wasextended though only about ten percent ofthe population enjoyed 
the right to vote. Bythis Act Burma was separated from India. 
 
(a) Congress Ministries and their Work 
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 The Government of India Act 1935 wasimplemented with the 
announcement ofelections in 1937. The Congress immenselybenefitted 
because of the Civil DisobedienceMovement. The Congress called off 
itsprogramme of boycott of legislature andcontested elections. It 
emerged victoriousin seven out of the eleven provinces. Itformed 
ministries in 8 provinces – Madras,Bombay, Central Provinces, Orissa, 
Bihar,United Provinces, North West FrontierProvince. In Assam it 
formed a coalitiongovernment with Assam Valley MuslimParty led by 
Sir Muhammad Sadullah. TheCongress Ministries functioned as a 
populargovernment and responded to the needsof the people. The 
salaries of ministerswere reduced from Rs. 2000 to Rs. 500per month. 
Earlier action taken againstnationalists were rescinded. They 
repealedthe Acts which vested emergency powers inthe government, 
lifted the ban imposed onpolitical organisations except the 
CommunistParty, and removed the restrictions on thenationalist press. 
Police powers were curbedand reporting by the CID on 
politicalspeeches discontinued. Legislative measureswere adopted for 
reducing indebtedness ofthe peasantry and improving the 
workingconditions of the industrial labour. Templeentry legislation was 
passed. Special attentionwas paid to education and public health. 
 
(b) Resignation of Congress Ministries 
 
 In 1939 the Second World War brokeout.Thecolonial government 
of Indiaentered the War on behalf of the Allieswithout consulting the 
Congress ministries.The Congress ministries resigned in protest.Jinnah 
who had returned from London withthe determination of demanding 
separatestate for Muslims, revived the Muslim Leaguein 1934. He was 
one of the staunchest criticsof the Congress Ministries. He declared 
theday when the Congress Ministries resignedas the ‗Day of 
Deliverance‘. By 1940 he wasdemanding a separate state for the 
Muslimsarguing that in an independent India theMuslims would lose all 
political power to theHindus. 
 
(c ) National Movement during the Second World War, 1939–45 
 
 In 1939 Subhas Chandra Bose becamethe President of the Congress 
by defeatingPattabhi Sitaramayya, the candidate ofGandhi. When 
Gandhi refused to cooperate,Subhas Chandra Bose resigned his post 
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andstarted the Forward Bloc. The Communistsinitially opposed the War, 
calling it animperialist war. However, with the Naziattack on the Soviet 
Union, they called it the‗People‘s War‘ and offered cooperation to 
theBritish. As a result, in 1942, the ban on theCommunist Party of India 
was lifted. 
 
Hindu Communalism, Muslim Communalism and Indian  
Nationalism 
 
 The Muslim League dubbed the Congressas a Hindu organisation 
and claimed that italone was the representative of the Muslimsof India. 
Similarly, the Hindu Mahasabhaand the Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh 
(RSS)took a pronounced anti-Muslim stance.Both Hindu Mahasabha and 
Muslim Leagueclaimed that the interests of the Hindus andMuslim were 
different and hostile to eachother. The British policy of divide and 
rule,through measures such as Partition of Bengal,Communal Award, 
had encouraged thevested interests out to exploit the 
religiousdifferences. In 1933, Rahmat Ali a student ofCambridge 
University conceived the idea ofPakistan, comprising the provinces of 
Punjab,Kashmir, North West Frontier Province, Sindand Baluchistan. 
Muhammad Iqbal, whowas advocating Hindu-Muslim unity 
laterchanged his stance and began to campaign forthe formation of a 
separate state for Muslims.Indian Nationalism represented by 
Gandhi,Nehru, Vallabhbhai Patel and others opposedthe idea of 
partitioning the country. 
 
Developments leading to Quit India Movement 
 
(a) Individual Satyagraha 
 
 In August 1940 ViceroyLinlithgow made an offer inreturn for 
Congress‘ supportfor the war effort. However,the offer of dominion 
statusin an unspecified futurewas not acceptable to theCongress. 
However, it didnot want to hamper theBritish during its struggleagainst 
the fascist forcesof Germany and Italy. Hence Gandhi declaredlimited 
satyagraha which would be offered bya few individuals. The objective 
was to conveyto the world that though India was opposedto Nazism it 
did not enter the War voluntarily.Vinobha Bhave was the first to offer 
satyagrahaon 17 October 1940. The satyagraha continuedtill the end of 
the year. During this period morethan 25,000 people were arrested. 
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(b) Cripps Mission 
 
 On 22 March1942, the Britishgovernment senta mission under 
Cabinet Minister SirStrafford Cripps asthe Japanese knockedon the 
doors of India.The negotiationsbetween the CrippsMission and the 
Congress failedas Britain was notwilling to transfer effective power 
immediately.The Cripps Mission offered: 
 
1. Grant of Dominion Status after the War 
2. Indian Princes could sign a separateagreement with the British 

implying theacceptance for the demand of Pakistan. 
3. British control of defence during the War. 
 
 Both the Congress and the MuslimLeague rejected the proposal. 
Gandhi calledthe proposals as a post-dated cheque on acrashing bank. 
 
(c ) "Do or Die" Call by Gandhi 
 
 The outcome of the Cripps Missioncaused considerable 
disappointment. Populardiscontent was intensified by war time 
shortagesand steep rise in prices. The All India CongressCommittee that 
met at Bombay on 8 August1942 passed the famous Quit India 
Resolutiondemanding an immediate end to British rule inIndia. Gandhi 
gave a call to do or die. Gandhisaid, ‗We shall either free India or die in 
theattempt; we shall not live to see the perpetuationof our slavery.‖ A 
non-violent mass struggleunder Gandhi was to be aunched. But 
earlynext morning on 9 August 1942 Gandhi and theentire Congress 
leadership was arrested. 
 
(d) Role of Socialists 
 
 With Gandhi andother prominent leadersof the Congress in jail,the 
Socialists providedthe leadership for themovement. 
JayaprakashNarayan and RamanandMisra escaped fromprison and 
organised anunderground movement.Women activists like Aruna Asaf 
Ali played aheroic role. Usha Mehta established CongressRadio 
underground which successfullyfunctioned till November 1942. British 
usedall its might to suppress the revolt. Thousandswere killed with 
machine guns and in somecases airplanes were used to throw 
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bombs.Collective fines were imposed and collectedwith utmost rigour. 
Gandhi commenced atwenty-one day fast in February 1943 whichnearly 
threatened his life. Finally, the Britishgovernment relented. Gandhi was 
releasedfrom jail in 1944. 
 
(e) People’s Response 
 
 As news spread to different parts of India,a spontaneous protest 
broke out everywhere.The people protested in whatever form thatthey 
could, such as hartals, strikes, picketing.The government suppressed it 
with bruteforce. People attacked government buildings,railway stations, 
telephone and telegraphlines and all that stood as symbols of 
Britishauthority. This was particularly widespreadin Madras. Parallel 
governments wereestablished in Satara, Orissa, Bihar, UnitedProvinces 
and Bengal. 
 
 
 Though the movement was suppressed,it demonstrated the depth 
of nationalismand the readiness of the people to sacrificefor it. Nearly 
7000 people were killed andmore than 60,000 jailed. Significantly it 
alsodemonstrated the weakening of the colonialhegemony over the state 
apparatus. Manyofficials including policemen helped thenationalists. 
Railway engine drivers andpilots transported bombs and other 
materialsfor the protestors. 
 
(f) Subhas Chandra Bose and INA 
 
 Subhas Chandra Bose‘s INASubhas Chandra Bose who had left 
theCongress was now under house arrest. Hewanted to strike British 
hard by joining itsenemies. In March 1941, he made a dramaticescape 
from his house in disguise and reachedAfghanistan. Initially he wanted 
to get thesupport of Soviet Union. After the Soviet Unionjoined the 
Allied Powers which included GreatBritain, he went to Germany. In 
February 1943,he made his way to Japan on a submarine andtook 
control of the Indian National Army. TheIndian National Army Captain 
Lakshmi Sahgalheaded it (Azad Hindu Faug) had earlier beenorganized 
by Gen. Mohan Singh with Indianprisoners of war with the support of 
Japanesein Malaya and Burma. Bose reorganised itinto three brigades: 
Gandhi Brigade, NehruBrigade and a women‘s brigade named afterRani 
of Jhansi. Subhas Chandra Bose formedthe Provisional Government of 



 

23 | P a g e APPOLO STUDY CENTRE PH: 044-24339436, 42867555, 9840226187 
 

Free India inSingapore. He gave the slogan ‗Dilli Chalo‘.INA was 
deployed as part of the Japaneseforces. However, the defeat of Japan 
stoppedthe advance of INA. The airplane carryingSubhas Chandra Bose 
crashed bringing to anend his crusade for freedom. 
 
 The British governmentarrested the INA officersand put them on 
trial in theRed Fort. The trial becamea platform for 
nationalistpropaganda. The Congressset up a defence 
committeecomprising Nehru, Tej Bahadur Sapru,Bhulabhai Desai and 
Asaf Ali. Though the INAofficers were convicted they were released 
dueto public pressure. The INA exploits and thesubsequent trials 
inspired the Indians. 
 
Towards Freedom 
 
(a) Royal Indian Navy Revolt 
 
 The Royal Indian Navy ratings revolted atBombay in February 
1946. It soon spread to otherstations involving more than 20,000 
ratings.Similar strikes occurred in the Indian Air Forceand the Indian 
Signal Corps at Jabalpur. Thusthe British hegemonic control ceased even 
in thearmed forces. Despite the victory in the War, itleft the British 
completely weakened. Britishsurrender in South-East Asia to the 
Japanese wasa big blow to imperial prestige. All the politicalleaders 
were released and the ban on Congresswas lifted. 
 
(b) Negotiating Independence: Simla Conference 
 
 The Wavell Plan was announced on14 June 1945. It provided for 
an interimgovernment, with an equal number of Hindusand Muslims in 
the Viceroy‘s ExecutiveCouncil. All portfolios, except war 
portfolio,wastobe held by Indian ministers. However,in the Shimla 
Conference, the Congress andthe Muslim League could not come to 
anagreement. Jinnah demanded that all theMuslim members should be 
from the MuslimLeague and they should have a veto on allimportant 
matters. In the provincial electionsheld in early 1946 the Congress won 
most ofthe general seats and the Muslim League wonmost of the seats 
reserved for the Muslimsthus bolstering its claim. 
 
(c) Cabinet Mission 
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 In Britain, the Labour Party had wona landslide victory and 
Clement Atleebecame the Prime Minister. He declaredthat he wanted to 
transfer power atthe earliest. He sent a Cabinet Missioncomprising 
Pethick Lawrence, Sir StraffordCripps and A.V. Alexander. Rejectingthe 
demand for Pakistan, it provided fora Federal government with control 
overdefence, communications and foreignaffairs. The provinces were 
divided intothree groups viz. Non-Muslim MajorityProvinces, Muslim 
Majority Provinces inthe Northwest and the Muslim MajorityProvinces 
in the Northeast. A ConstituentAssembly was to be elected and an 
interimgovernment set up with representation forall the communities. 
The Congress and theMuslim League accepted the plan. However,both 
interpreted it differently. The Congresswanted the division of the 
provinces to betemporary while the Muslim League wantedit to be a 
permanent arrangement. 
 
(d) Direct Action Day Call by Muslim League 
 
 Difference arose between Congress andMuslim League when the 
former nominateda Muslim member. The League argued it wasto be the 
sole representative of the Muslimsand withdrew its approval. Jinnah 
declared16 August 1946 as the ‗Direct Action Day‘.Hartals and 
demonstrations took place whichsoon turned into Hindu-Muslim 
conflict.It spread to other districts of Bengal. Thedistrict of Noakhali was 
the worst affected.Gandhi left for the worst affected regionsand toured 
them on barefoot bringing thecommunal violence under control 
andspreading the message of peace and nonviolence. 
 
 (e) Mountbatten Plan 
 
 The interim government headed byJawaharlal Nehru was formed 
in September1946. After some hesitation the Muslim Leaguejoined it in 
October 1946. Its representativeLiaqat Ali Khan was made the Finance 
Member.In February 1947, Clement Atlee declared thatpower would be 
transferred by June 1948. LordMountbatten was sent as Viceroy to India 
withthe specific task of transfer of power. On 3 June1947 the 
Mountbatten Plan was announced. Itproposed: 
 
 Power would be transferred on thebasis of dominion status to India 

andPakistan. 
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 Princely states would have to join eitherIndia or Pakistan. 
 Boundary commission was to be set upunder Radcliffe Brown and 

the award wouldbe announced after the transfer of power. 
 Punjab and Bengal Legislative Assemblieswould vote on whether 

they should bepartitioned. 
 
(f) Independence and Partition 
 
 The Mountbatten Plan was given effectby the enactment of the 
Indian IndependenceAct on 18 July 1947 by the British Parliament. 
The Act abolished the sovereignty of theBritish Parliament over India. 
India waspartitioned into two dominions – India andPakistan. On 15 
August 1947 India wonindependence. 
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12th History 
3. Impact of World War I on Indian Freedom   

 Movement 
 
 

Introduction  
 

Severalevents that preceded the First World War had a bearing on 
Indian nationalist politics. In 1905 Japan had defeated Russia. In 1908 the 
Young Turks and in 1911 the Chinese nationalists, using Western 
methods and ideas, had overthrown their governments. Along with the 
First World War these events provide the background to Indian 
nationalism during 1916 and 1920.  

 
Europe was the main theatre of the War, though fighting took 

place in others parts of the world as well. The British recruited a vast 
contingent of Indians to serve in Europe, Africa and West Asia. After the 
War, the soldiers came back with new ideas which had an impact on the 
Indian society. India had to cough up around £ 367 million, of which £ 
229 million as direct cash and the rest through loans to offset the war 
expenses. India also sent war materials to the value £ 250 million. This 
caused enormous economic distress, triggering discontent amongst 
Indians. 
 

The nationalist politics was in low key, since the Indian National 
Congress had split into moderates and extremists, while the Muslim 
league supported British interests in war. In 1916 ―the extremists‖ led by 
Tilak had gained control of Congress. This led to the rise of Home Rule 
Movement in India under the leadership of Dr Annie Besant in South 
India and Tilak in Western India. The Congress was reunited during the 
war. The strength of Indian nationalism was increased by the agreement 
signed between Hindus and Muslims, known as the Lucknow Pact, in 
1916. 
 

During the War, western revolutionary ideas were influencing the 
radical nationalists and so the British tried to suppress the national 
movement by passing repressive acts. Of all the repressive acts, the most 
draconic was the Rowlatt Act. This act was strongly criticized by the 
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Indian leaders and they organised meetings to protest against the act. 
The international events too had its impact on India, such as the 
revolution in Russia. The defeat of Turkey 
 

In World War I and the severe terms of the Treaty of Sevres signed 
thereafter undermined the position of Sultan of Turkey as Khalifa. Out 
of the resentment was born the Khilafat Movement.  

 
India and Indians had taken an active part in the War believing 

that Britain would reward India's loyalty. But only disappointment was 
in store. Thus the War had multiple effects on Indian society, economy 
and polity. In this lesson we discuss the role played by Home Rule 
League, factors leading to the signing of Lucknow Pact and its 
provisions, the repressive measures of the British culminating in 
Jallianwala Bagh Massacre, the Khilafat Movement and the rise of an 
organized labour movement. 

 
 

All India Home Rule League  
 

We may recall that many foreigners such as A.O. Hume had 
played a pivotal role in our freedom movement in the early stages. Dr 
Annie Besant played a similar role in the early part of the twentieth 
century. Besant was Irish by birth and had been active in the Irish home 
rule, fabian socialist and birth control movements while in Britain. She 
joined the Theosophical Society, and came to India in 1893. She founded 
the Central Hindu College in Benaras (later upgraded as Benaras Hindu 
University by Pandit Madan Mohan Malaviya in 1916). With the death 
of H. S. Olcott in 1907, Besant succeeded him as the international 
president of the Theosophical Society. She was actively spreading the 
theosophical ideas from itsheadquarters, Adyar in Chennai, and gained 
the support of a number of educated followers such as Jamnadas 
Dwarkadas, George Arundale, Shankerlal Banker, Indulal Yagnik, C.P. 
Ramaswamy and B.P. Wadia. 
 

In 1914 was when Britain announced its entry in First World War, 
it was claimed that it fighting for freedom and democracy. Indian 
leaders believed and supported the British war efforts. Soon they were 
disillusioned as there was no change in the British attitude towards 
India. Moreover, split into moderate and extremist wings, the Indian 
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National Congress was not strong enough to press for further political 
reforms towards self-rule. The Muslim League was looked upon 
suspiciously by the British once the Sultan of Turkey entered the War 
supporting the Central powers. 

 
It was in this backdrop that Besant entered into Indian Politics. She 

started a weekly The Commonweal in 1914. The weekly focussed on 
religious liberty, national education, social and political reforms. She 
published a book How India Wrought for Freedom in 1915. In this book 
she asserted that the beginnings of national consciousness are deeply 
embedded in its ancient past.  
She gave the call, 'The moment of England's difficulty is the moment of 
India's opportunity' and wanted Indian leaders to press for reforms. She 
toured England and made many speeches in the cause of India's 
freedom. She also tried to form an Indian party in the Parliament but 
was unsuccessful. Her visit, however, aroused sympathy for India. On 
her return, she started a daily newspaper New India on July 14, 1915. 
She revealed her concept of self-rule in a speech at Bombay: ―I mean by 
self-government that the country shall have a government by councils, 
elected by the people, and responsible to the House‖. She organized 
public meetings and conferences to spread the idea and demanded that 
India be granted self-government on the lines of the White colonies after 
the War.  
 

On September 28, 1915, Besant made a formal declaration that she 
would start the Home Rule League Movement for India withobjectives 
on the lines of the Irish Home Rule League. The moderates did not like 
the idea of establishing another separate organisation. She too realised 
that the sanction of the Congress party was necessary for her movement 
to be successful. 
 

In December 1915 due to the efforts of Tilak and Besant, the 
Bombay session of Congress suitably altered the constitution of the 
Congress party to admit the members from the extremist section. In the 
session she insisted on the Congress taking up the Home Rule League 
programme before September 1916, failing which she would organize 
the Home Rule League on her own.  
In 1916, two Home Rule Movements were launched in the country: one 
under Tilak and the other under Besant with their spheres of activity 
well demarcated. The twin objectives of the Home Rule League were the 
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establishment of Home Rule for India in British Empire and arousing in 
the Indian masses a sense of pride for the Motherland.  
 
(a) Tilak Home Rule League  
 

Tilak Home Rule League was set up at the Bombay Provincial 
conference held at Belgaum in April 1916. It League was to work in 
Maharashtra (including Bombay city), Karnataka, the Central Provinces 
and Berar. Tilak's League was organised into six branches and Annie 
Besant's League was given the rest of India.  

 
Tilak popularised the demand for Home Rule through his lectures. 

The popularity of his League was confined to Maharashtra and 
Karnataka but claimed a membership of 14,000 in April 1917 and 32,000 
by early 1918. On 23 July 1916 on his 60th birthday Tilak was arrested 
for propagating the idea of Home Rule. 

 

Home Rule: It refers to a self-government granted by a central or 
regional government to its dependent political units on condition that 
their people should remain politically loyal to it. This was a common 
feature in the ancient Roman Empire and the modern British Empire. In 
Ireland the Home Rule Movement gathered force in the 1880s and a 
system of Home Rule was established by the Government of Ireland Act 
(1920) in six counties of Northern Ireland and later by the Anglo-Irish 
Treaty (1921) in the remaining 26 counties in the south. 
 
 

 

(b) Besant's Home Rule League  
 

Finding no signs from the Congress, Besant herself inaugurated 
the Home Rule League at Madras in September 1916. Its branches were 
established at Kanpur, Allahabad, Benaras, Mathura, Calicut and 
Ahmednagar. She made an extensive tour and spread the idea of Home 
Rule. She declared that "the price of India's loyalty is India's Freedom". 
Moderate congressmen who were dissatisfied with the inactivity of the 
Congress joined the Home Rule League. The popularity of the League 
can be gauged from the fact that Jawaharlal Nehru, Muhammad Ali 
Jinnah, B. Chakravarti and Jitendralal Banerji, Satyamurti and 
Khaliquzzaman were taking up the membership of the League.  
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As Besant‘s Home Rule Movement became very popular in 

Madras, the Government of Madras decided to suppress it. Students 
were barred from attending its meetings. In June 1917 Besant and her 
associates, B.P. Wadia and George Arundale were interred in 
Ootacamund. The government‘s repression strengthened the supporters, 
and with renewed determination they began to resist. To support 
Besant, Sir S. Subramaniam renounced his knighthood. Many leaders 
like Madan Mohan Malaviya, and Surendranath Banerjea who had 
earlier stayed away from the movement enlisted themselves. At the 
AICC meeting convened on 28 July 1917 Tilak advocated the use of civil 
disobedience if theywere not released. Jamnadas Dwarkadas and 
Shankerlal Banker, on the orders of Gandhi, collected one thousand 
signatures willing to defy the interment orders and march to Besant‘s 
place of detention. Due to the growing resistance the interned 
nationalists were released. 
 

On 20 August 1917 the new Secretary of State Montagu announced 
that 'self-governing institutions and responsible government' was the 
goal of the British rule in India. Almost overnight this statement 
converted Besant into a near-loyalist. In September 1917, when she was 
released, she was elected the President of Calcutta session of the Indian 
National Congress in 1917. 
 
(c) Importance of the Home Rule Movement  
 

The Home Rule Leagues prepared the ground for mass 
mobilization paving the way for the launch of Gandhi‘s satyagraha 
movements. Many of the early Gandhian satyagrahis had been members 
of the Home Rule Leagues. They used the organisational networks 
created by the Leagues to spread the Gandhian method of agitation. 
Home Rule League was the first Indian political movement to cut across 
sectarian lines and have members from the Congress, League, 
Theosophist and the Laborites. 
 
 
(d) Decline of Home Rule Movement  

Home Rule Movement declined after Besant accepted the 
proposed Montagu– Chelmsford Reforms and Tilak went to Britain in 
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September 1918 to pursue the libel case that he had filed against 
Valentine Chirol, the author of Indian Unrest. 
 

The Indian Home Rule League was renamed the Commonwealth of 
India League and used to lobby British MPs in support of self-
government for India within the empire, or dominion status along the 
lines of Canada and Australia. It was transformed by V.K. Krishna 
Menon into the India League in 1929. 

 
 

Impact of the War  
 

During the years prior to First World War the political condition of 
the India was in disarray. In order to win over the ―Moderates‖ and the 
Muslim League with a view to isolating the ―Extremists‖ the British 
passed the Minto– Morley Reforms in 1909. The Moderates observed a 
policy of wait and watch. The Muslim League welcomed the separate 
electorate accorded to them. In 1913 a new group of leaders joined the 
League. The most prominent among them was Muhammad Ali Jinnah 
who was already a member of the Congress and demanded more 
reforms for the Muslims.  

 
The First World War provided the objective conditions for the 

revolutionary activity in India. The revolutionaries wanted to make use 
of Britain's difficulty during the War to their advantage. The Ghadar 
Movement was one of its outcomes. 
 

The First World War had a major impact on the freedom 
movement. Initially, the British didn't care for Indian support. Once the 
war theatre moved to West Asia and Africa the British were forced to 
look for Indian support. In this context Indianleaders decided to put 
pressure on the British Government for reforms. The Congress and 
Muslim League had their annual session at Bombay in 1915 and spoke 
on similar tones. In October 1916, the Hindu and Muslim elected 
members of the Imperial Legislative Council addressed a memorandum 
to the Viceroy on the post-War reforms. The British Government was 
unmoved. The Congress and the League met at Calcutta in November 
1916 and deliberated on the memorandum. It also agreed on the 
composition of the legislatures and the number of representation to be 
allowed to the two communities in the post-War reforms. 
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Parallel to this, Tilak and Besant were advocating Home Rule. Due 
to their efforts the Bombay session accepted to take back the extremist 
section and, consequently, the constitution of the Congress was altered. 
1916 was therefore a historic year since the Congress, Muslim League 
and the Home Rule League held their annual sessions at Lucknow. 
Ambika Charan Mazumdar, Congress president welcomed the 
extremists: "… after ten years of painful separation … Indian National 
Party have come to realize the fact that united they stand, but divided 
they fall, and brothers have at last met brothers..." The Congress got its 
old vigour with extremists back into it.  

 
Besant and Tilak also played an important role in bringing the 

Congress and the Muslim League together under what is popularly 
known as the Congress–League Pact or the Lucknow Pact. Jinnah played 
a pivotal role during the Pact. The agreements accepted at Calcutta in 
November 1916 were confirmed by the annual sessions of the Congress 
and the League in December 1916. 
 

Lala Hardayal, who settled in San Francisco, founded Pacific Coast 
Hindustan Association in 1913, with Sohan Singh Bhakna as its 
president. This organization was popularly called Ghadar Party. 
(‗Ghadar‘ means rebellion in Urdu.) The members of this party were 
largely immigrant Sikhs of US and Canada. The party published a 
journal called Ghadar. It began publication from San Francisco on 
November 1, 1913. Later it was published in Urdu, Punjabi, Hindi and 
other languages.  
The Ghadar Movement was an important episode in India‘s freedom 
struggle. A ship named Komagatamaru, filled with Indian immigrants 
was turned back from Canada. As the ship returned to India several of 
its passengers were killed or arrested in a clash with the British police. 
This incident left a deep mark on the Indian nationalist movement. 

 
 
Provisions of the Lucknow Pact  
 

i) Provinces should be freed as much as possible from Central 
control in administration and finance.  
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ii) Four-fifths of the Central and Provincial Legislative Councils 
should be elected, and one-fifth nominated.  

 
iii) Four-fifths of the provincial and central legislatures were to be 
elected on as broad a franchise as possible. 

 
iv) Half the executive council members, including those of the 
central executive council were to be Indians elected by the councils 
themselves.  

 
v) The Congress also agreed to separate electorates for Muslims in 
provincial council elections and for preferences in their favour 
(beyond the proportions indicated by population) in all provinces 
except the Punjab and Bengal, where some ground was given to 
the Hindu and Sikh minorities.This pact paved the way for 
Hindu–Muslim cooperation in the Khilafat Movement and 
Gandhi‘s Non–Cooperation Movement. 

 

vi) The Governments, Central and Provincial, should be bound to 
act in accordance with resolutions passed by their Legislative 
Councils unless they were vetoed by the Governor-General or 
Governors–in– Council and, in that event, if the resolution was 
passed again after an interval of not less than one year, it should 
be put into effect;  
 
vii) The relations of the Secretary of State with the Government of 
India should be similar to those of the Colonial Secretary with the 
Governments of the Dominions, and India should have an equal 
status with that of the Dominions in any body concerned with 
imperial affairs. 
 
The Lucknow Pact paved the way for Hindu Muslim Unity. 

Sarojini Ammaiyar called Jinnah, the chief architect of the Lucknow 
Pact, ―the Ambassador of Hindu–Muslim Unity‖.  

 
The Lucknow Pact proved that the educated class both from the 

Congress and the League could work together with a common goal. This 
unity reached its climax during the Khilafat and the Non-Cooperation 
Movements. 
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Repressive Measures of the Colonial State 
 

Parallel to the Congress there emerged revolutionary groups who 
attempted to overthrow away the British government through violence 
methods. The revolutionary movements constituted an important 
landmark in India's freedom struggle. It began in the end of the 
nineteenth century and gained its momentum from the time of the 
partition of Bengal. The revolutionaries were the first to demand 
complete freedom. Maharashtra, Bengal, Punjab were the major centers 
of revolutionary activity. For a brief while Madras presidency was also 
an active ground of the revolutionary activity. 
 

In order to crush the growing nationalist movement, the 
government adopted many measures. Lord Curzon created the Criminal 
Intelligence Department (CID) in 1903 to secretly collect information on 
the activities of nationalists. The Newspapers (Incitement to Offences) 
Act (1908) and the Explosives Substances Act (1908), and shortly 
thereafter the Indian Press Act (1910), and the Prevention of Seditious 
Meetings Act (1911) were passed. The British suspected that some Indian 
nationalists were in contact with revolutionaries abroad. So the 
Foreigners Ordinance was promulgated in 1914 which restricted the 
entry of foreigners. A majority of these legislations were passed in order 
to break the base of the revolutionary movements. The colonial state also 
resorted to banning meetings, printing and circulation of seditious 
materials for propaganda, and by detaining the suspects. 
 

The Defence of India Act, 1915  
 

Also referred to as the Defence of India Regulations Act, it was an 
emergency criminal law enacted with the intention of curtailing the 
nationalist and revolutionary activities during the First World War. The 
Act allowed suspects to be tried by special tribunals each consisting of 
three Commissioners appointed by the Local Government. The act 
empowered the tribunal to inflict sentences of death, transportation for 
life, and imprisonment of up to ten years for the violation of rules or 
orders framed under the act. The trail was to be in camera and the 
decisions were not subject to appeal. The act was later applied during 
the First Lahore Conspiracy trial. This Act, after the end of First World 
War, formed the basis of the Rowlatt Act. 
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Khilafat Movement 

 
In the First World War the Sultan of Turkey sided with the Triple 

Alliance against the allied powers and attacked Russia. TheSultan was 
also the Caliph and was the custodian of the Islamic sacred places. After 
the war, Britain decided to weaken the position of Turkey and the Treaty 
of Sevres was signed. The eastern part of the Turkish Empire such as 
Syria and Lebanon were mandated to France, while Palestine and Jordan 
became British protectorates. Thus the allied powers decided to end the 
caliphate. 
 

The dismemberment of the Caliphate was seen as a blow to Islam. 
Muslims around the world, sympathetic to the cause of the Caliph, 
decided to oppose the move. Muslims in India also organised 
themselves under the leadership of the Ali brothers – Maulana 
Muhammad Ali and Maulana Shaukat Ali started a movement known 
as Khalifat Movement. The aim was to the support the Ottoman Empire 
and protest against the British rule in India. Numerous Muslim leaders 
such as Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, M.A. Ansari, Sheikh Shaukat Ali 
Siddiqui and Syed Ataullah Shah Bukhari joined the movement.  

 
The demands of the Khilafat Movement were presented by 

Mohammad Ali to the diplomats in Paris in March 1920. They were:  
 

1. The Sultan of Turkey's position of Caliph should not be 
disturbed. 
 

2. The Muslim sacred places must be handed over to the Sultan 
and should be controlled by him. 

 

3. The Sultan must be left with sufficient territory to enable him to 
defend the Islamic faith and 

 
4. The Jazirat-ul-Arab (Arabia, Syria, Iraq, Palestine) must remain 
under his sovereignty. 
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Gandhi had been honoured with Kaisari- Hind gold medal for his 
humanitarian work in South Africa. He had also received the Zulu War 
silver medal for his services as an officer of the Indian volunteer 
ambulance corps in 1906 and Boer War silver medal for his services as 
assistant superintendent of the Indian volunteer stretcher-bearer corps 
during Boer War of 1899–1900. When Gandhi launched the scheme of 
non-cooperation in connection with Khilafat Movement, he returned all 
the medals saying, ‗…events that have happened during the past one 
month have confirmed in me the opinion that the Imperial Government 
have acted in the Khilafat matter in an unscrupulous, criminal and 
unjust manner and have been moving from wrong to wrong in order to 
defend their immorality. I can retain neither respect nor affection for 
such a government.‘ 
 

The demands of the movement had nothing do to with India but 
the question of Caliph was used as a symbol by the Khilafat leaders to 
unite the Indian Muslim community who were divided along regional, 
linguistic, class and sectarian lines. In Gail Minault's words: "A pan-
Islamic symbol opened the way to pan- Indian Islamic political 
mobilization." It was anti-British, which inspired Gandhi to support this 
cause in a bid to bring the Muslims into the mainstream of Indian 
nationalism. Gandhi also saw this as an opportunity to strengthen 
Hindu–Muslim unity. 
 

The Khilafat issue was interpreted differently by different sections. 
Lower-class Muslims in U.P. interpreted the Urdu word khilaf (against) 
and used it as a symbol of general revolt against authority, while the 
Mappillais of Malabar converted it into a banner of anti-landlord revolt. 

 
 
Rise of Labour Movement 
 

Introduction of machinery, new methods of production, 
concentration of factories in certain big cities gave birth to a new class of 
wage earners called factory workers. In India, the factory workers, 
mostly drawn from villages, initially remained submissive and 
unorganised. Many leaders like Sorabjee Shapoorji and N.M. Lokhanday 
of Bombay and Sasipada Banerjee of Bengal raised their voice for 
protecting the interests of the industrial labourers.  
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In the aftermath of Swadeshi Movement (1905) Indian industries 
began to thrive. During the War the British encouraged Indian 
industries which manufactured war time goods. As the war progressed 
they wanted more goods so more workers were recruited. Once the war 
ended workers were laid off and production cut down. Further prices 
increased dramatically in the post-War situation. India was also in the 
grip of a world-wide epidemic of influenza. In response labourers began 
to organize to fight and trade unions were formed to protect the 
interests of the workers.  
The success of the Bolshevik Revolution of 1917 also had its effect on 
Indian labour. 
 

A wave of ideas of class consciousness and enlightenment swept 
the world of Indian labours. The Indian soldiers who had fought in 
Europe brought the news of good labour conditions. The industrial 
unrest that grew up as a result of grave economic difficulties created by 
War, and the widening gulf between the employers and the employees, 
and the establishment of International Labour Organisation of the 
League of Nations brought mass awakening among the labours.  

 
Madras played a pivotal role in the history of labour movement of 

India. The first trade union in the modern sense, the Madras Labour 
Union, was formed in 1918 by B.P. Wadia. The union was formed 
mainly due to the ill-treatment of Indian worker in the Buckingham and 
Carnatic Mills, Perambur. The working conditions was poor. Short 
interval for mid-day meal, frequent assaults on workers by the European 
assistants and inadequate wages led to the formation of this union. This 
union adopted collective bargaining and used trade unionism as a 
weapon for class struggle.  

 
This wave spread to other parts of India and many unions were 

formed at this time such as the Indian Seamen‘s Union both at Calcutta 
and Bombay, the Punjab Press Employers Association, the G.I.P. 
Railway Workers Union Bombay, M.S.M. Railwaymen‘s Union, Union 
of the Postmen and Port Trust Employees Union at Bombay and 
Calcutta, the Jamshedpur Labour Association the Indian Colliery 
Employees Association of Jharia and the Unions of employees of various 
railways. To suppress the labour movement the Government, with the 
help of the capitalists, tried by all means to subdue the labourers. They 
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imprisoned strikers, burnt their houses, and fined the unions, but the 
labourers were determined in their demands. 
 

Nationalist leaders and intellectuals were moved by the plight of 
the workers, and many of them worked towards organizing them into 
unions. Their involvement also led to the politicization of the working 
class, and added to the strength of the freedom movement as most of the 
mills were owned by Europeans who were supported by the 
government.  

 
On 30 October 1920, representatives of 64 trade unions, with a 

membership of 140,854, met in Bombay and established the All India 
Trade Union Congress (AITUC) under the Chairmanship of Lala Lajpat 
Rai. It was supported by national leaders like Motilal Nehru, Jawaharlal 
Nehru, C.R. Das, Vallabhbhai Patel, Subhash Chandra Bose and others 
from the Indian National Congress.  

 
The trade unions slowly involved themselves in the national 

movement. In April 1919 after the Jallianwala Bagh Massacre and 
Gandhi‘s arrest, the working class in Ahmedabad and other parts of 
Gujarat resorted to strikes, agitations and demonstrations. Trade unions 
were not recognised by the capitalists or the government in the 
beginning. But the unity of the workers and the strength of their 
movement forced the both to recognise them. From 1919–20 the number 
of registered trade unions increased from 107 to 1833 in 1946–47. 
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  4. Advent of Gandhi and Mass Mobilisation 
 

Introduction 
 

Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi was born in the coastal town of 
Porbandar in 1869. When he returned to India in 1915 he had a record of 
fighting against inequalities imposed by the racist government of South 
Africa. Gandhi certainly wanted to be of help to forces of nationalism in 
India. He was in touch with leaders India as he had come into contact 
with Congress leaders while mobilizing support for the South African 
Indian cause earlier. Impressed by activities and ideas of Gopala Krishna 
Gokhale, he acknowledged him as his political Guru. On his return to 
India, following Gokhale‘s advice, Gandhi, who was away from India 
for over two decades, spent a year travelling all over the country 
acquainting himself with the situation. He established his Sabarmati 
Ashram at Ahmedabad but did not take active part in political 
movements including the Home Rule movement. 

 
While in South Africa, Gandhi, gradually evolved the technique of 

‗Satyagraha,‘ based on ‗Satya‘ and ‗Ahimsa‘ i.e, truth and non-violence, 
to fight the racist South African regime. Even while resisting evil and 
wrong a Satyagrahi had to be at peace with himself and not hate the 
wrongdoer. A Satyagrahi would willingly accept suffering in the course 
of resistance, and hatred had no place in the exercise. Truth and 
nonviolence would be weapons of the brave and fearless and not 
cowards. For Gandhi there was no difference between precept and 
practice, faith and action. 
 

Gandhi’s Experiments of Satyagraha  
 
(a) Champaran Movement (1917) 
 

The first attempt at mobilizing the Indian masses was made by 
Gandhi on an invitation by peasants of Champaran. Before launching 
the struggle he made a detailed study of the situation. Indigo cultivators 
of the district Champaran in Bihar were severely exploited by the 
European planters who had bound the peasants to compulsorily grow 
indigo on lease on 3/20th of their fields and sell it at the ratesfixed by 
the planters. This system squeezed the peasants and eventually reduced 
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them to penury. Accompanied by local leaders such as Rajendra Prasad, 
Mazharul Huq, Acharya Kripalani and Mahadeva Desai, Gandhi 
conducted a detailed enquiry. The British officials ordered Gandhi to 
leave the district. But he refused and told the administration that he 
would defy the order because it was unjust and face the consequences.  

 
Subsequently an enquiry committee with Gandhi also as a member 

was formed. It was not difficult for Gandhi to convince the committee of 
the difficulties of the poor peasants. The report was accepted and 
implemented resulting in the release of the indigo cultivators of the 
bondage of European planters who gradually had to withdraw from 
Champaran itself.  
 
(b) Mill Workers’ Strike and Gandhi’s Fast at Ahmedabad (1918)  
 

Thus Gandhi met with his first success in his homeland. The 
struggle also enabled him to closely understand the condition of 
peasantry. The next step at mobilizing the masses was the workers of the 
urban centre, Ahmedabad. There was a dispute between the textile 
workers and the mill owners. He met both the parties and when the 
owners refused to accept the demands of the low paid workers, Gandhi 
advised them to go on strike demanding a 35 percent increase in their 
wages. To bolster the morale of the workers he went on fast. 
Theworker‘s strike and Gandhi‘s fast ultimately forced the mill owners‘ 
to concede the demand. 
 

(c) The Kheda Struggle (1918)  
 

The peasants of Kheda district, due to the failure of monsoon, were 
in distress. They had appealed to the colonial authorities for remission of 
land revenue during 1918. As per government‘s famine code, in the 
event of crop yield being under 25 percent of the average the cultivators 
were entitled for total remission. But the authorities refused and 
harassed them demanding full payment. The Kheda peasants who were 
also battling the plague epidemic, high prices and famine approached 
the Servants of India Society, of which Gandhi was a member, for help. 
Gandhi, along with Vithalbhai Patel, intervened on behalf of the poor 
peasants and advised them to withhold payment and ‗fight unto death 
against such a spirit of vindictiveness and tyranny.‘ Vallabhbhai Patel, a 
young lawyer and Indulal Yagnik joined Gandhi in the movement and 
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urged the ryots to be firm. The government repression included 
attachment of crops, taking possession of the belongings of the ryots and 
their cattle and in some cases auctioning them. 
 

The government authorities issued instructions that revenues shall 
be collected only from those ryots who could afford to pay. On learning 
about the same, Gandhi decided to withdraw the struggle 
 

The three struggles led by Gandhi, demonstrated that he had 
understood where the Indian nation lay. It was the poor peasants and 
workers of all classes and castes, who constituted the pith and marrow 
of India, whose interests Gandhi espoused in these struggles. He had 
confronted both the colonialist and Indian exploiters and by entering 
into dialogue with them, he had demonstrated that he was a leader who 
could mobilize the oppressed and at the same time negotiate with the 
oppressors. These virtues made him the man of the masses and soon he 
was hailed as the Mahatma.  
 

Servants of India Society was founded by Gopal Krishna Gokhale 
in 1905 to unite and train Indians of different castes, regions and 
religions in welfare work. It was the first secular organization in the 
country to devote itself to the betterment of underprivileged, rural and 
tribal people. The members involved themselves in relief work, the 
promotion of literacy, and other social causes. Members would have to 
go through a five-year training period and agree to serve on modest 
salaries. The organization has its headquarters in Pune (Maharashtra) 
and notable branches in Chennai (Madras), Mumbai (Bombay), 
Allahabad and Nagpur. 
 
Montagu–Chelmsford Reforms  
 

Edwin Montagu and Chelmsford, the Secretary of State for India 
and Viceroy respectively, announced their scheme of constitutional 
changes for India which came to be known as the Indian Councils Act of 
1919. The Act enlarged the provincial legislative councils with elected 
majorities. The governments in the provinces were given more share in 
the administration under ‗Dyarchy.‘ Under this arrangement all 
important subjects like law and order and finance ‗reserved‘ for the 
whitemen and were directly under the control of theGovernors. Other 
subjects such as health, educations and local self-government were 
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‗transferred‘ to elected Indian representatives. Ministers holding 
‗transferred subjects‘ were responsible to the legislatures; but those in-
charge of ‗reserved‘ subjects were not further the Governor of the 
province could overrule the ministers under ‗special (veto) powers,‘ thus 
making a mockery of the entire scheme. The part dealing with central 
legislature in the act created two houses of legislature (bi-cameral).  
 

The Central Legislative Assembly was to have 41 nominated 
members, out of a total of 144. The Upper House known as the Council 
of States was to have 60 members, of whom 26 were to be nominated. 
Both the houses had no control over the Governor General and his 
Executive Council. But the Central Government had full control over the 
provincial governments. As a result, power was concentrated in the 
hands of the European / English authorities. Right to vote also 
continued to be restricted.  
 

The public spirited men of India, who had extended unconditional 
support to the war efforts of Britain had expected more. The scheme, 
when announced in 1918, came to be criticized throughout India. The 
Indian National Congress met in a special session at Bombay in August 
1918 to discuss the scheme. The congress termed the scheme 
‗disappointing and unsatisfactory.‘  
 

The colonial government followed a ‗carrot and stick policy.‘ There 
was a group of moderate / liberal political leaders who wanted to try 
and work the reforms. Led by Surendranath Banerjee, they opposed the 
majority opinion and left the Congress to form their own party which 
came to be called Indian Liberal Federation. 
 

The Non-Brahmin Movement  
 

The hierarchical Indian society and the contradictions within, 
found expression in the formation of caste associations and movements 
to question the dominance of higher castes. Thehigher castes also were 
controlling the factors of production and thus the middle and lower 
castes were dependent on them for livelihood. Liberalism and 
humanism which influenced and accompanied the socio-religious 
reform movements of the nineteenth century had affected the society 
and stirred it. The symptoms of their awakening were already visible in 
the last quarter of the nineteenth century. The Namasudra movement in 
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the Bengal and eastern India, the Adidharma movement in North 
Western India, the Satyashodhak movement in Western India and the 
Dravidian movements in South India had emerged and raised their 
voice by the turn of the century. They were all led by non Brahmin 
leaders who questioned the supremacy of the Brahmins and other 
‗superior‘ castes.  

 
It first manifested itself, through Jyoti Rao Phule‘s book of 1872 

titled Gulamgiri. His organization, Satyashodak Samaj, underscored the 
necessity to relieve the lower castes from the tyranny of Brahminism and 
the exploitative scriptures. The colonial administrators and the 
educational institutions that were established indirectly facilitated their 
origin. Added to the growing influence of Brahmin – upper caste men in 
the colonial times in whatever opportunity was open to natives, the 
colonial government published census reports once a decade. These 
reports classified castes on the basis of ‗social precedence as recognized 
by native public opinion‘. The censuses were a source of conflict 
between castes. There were claims and counterclaims as the leaders of 
caste organizations fought for pre-eminence and many started new caste 
associations. These attempts were further helped by the emerging 
political scenario. 

 
Leading members of castes realized that it was important to 

mobilise their castes in struggles for social recognition. More than the 
recognition, many of them, as years passed by, started providing for 
education oftheir caste brethren and helped their educated youth in 
getting jobs. In the meantime, introduction of electoral politics from the 
1880s gave a fillip to such organisations. The outcome of all this was the 
expression of socio-economic tensions through caste consciousness and 
caste solidarity.  

 
Two trends emerged out of the non- Brahmin movements. One 

was what is called the process of ‗Sanskritisatian‘ of the ‗lower‘ castes 
and the second was a radical pro-poor and progressive peasant–labour 
movements. While the northern and eastern caste movements by and 
large were Sanskritic, the western and southern movements split and 
absorbed by the rising nationalist and Dravidian–Left movements. 
However all these movements were critical of what they called as 
‗Brahmin domination‘ and attacked their ‗monopoly‘, and pleaded with 
the government through their associations for justice. In Bombay and 
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Madras presidencies clear-cut Brahmin monopoly in the government 
services and general cultural arena led to non-Brahmin politics.  
 

The pattern of the movement in south was a little different. The 
Brahmin monopoly was quite formidable as with only 3.2% of the 
population they had 72% of all graduates. They came to be challenged 
by educated and trading community members of the non-Brahmin 
castes. They were elitist in the beginning and their challenge was 
articulated by the Non- Brahmin Manifesto issued at the end of 1916. 
They asserted that they formed the ‗bulk of the tax payers, including a 
large majority of the zamindars, landlords and agriculturists‘, yet they 
received no benefits from the state.  

 
The colonial government made use of the genuine grievances of 

the non-Brahmins to divide and rule India. This was true with the 
Brahmanetara Parishat, and the Justice Party ofBombay and Madras 
presidencies respectively at least till 1930. Both the regions had some 
socially radical possibilities as could be seen in the emergence of a 
radical Dalit-Bahujan movement under the leadership of Dr Ambedkar 
and the Self-Respect Movement under the leadership of Periyar 
Ramaswamy. 

 
The nationalists were unable to understand the liberal democratic 

content in the awakening among the lower strata of Indian society. 
While a section of the nationalists simply ignored the stirrings, a 
majority of them and particularly the so-called extremists–radicals were 
opposed to the movements. A few of them were even hostile and 
labelled them as stooges of British, anti-national etc. The early leaders of 
the non- Brahmin movement were in fact using the same tactics as the 
early nationalist leaders in dealing with the colonial government. 
 

Non-cooperation Movement  
 
(a) Rowlatt Act  
 

It was as part of the British policy of ‗rally the moderates and 
isolate the extremists‘ that the Indian Councils Act 1919 and the Rowlatt 
Act of the same year were promulgated. Throughout the World War, the 
repressive measures against the terrorists and revolutionaries had 
continued. Many of them were hanged or imprisoned for long terms. As 
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the general mood was restive, the government decided to arm itself with 
more repressive powers. Despite every elected member of the central 
legislature opposing the bill, the government passed the Rowlatt Act in 
March 1919. This Act empowered the government to imprison any 
person without trial. 

 
Gandhi and his associates were shocked. It was the ‗Satyagraha 

Sabha‘ founded by Gandhi, which pledged to disobey the Act first. In 
the place of the old agitational methodssuch as meetings, boycott of 
foreign cloth and schools, picketing of toddy shops, petitions and 
demonstrations, a novel method was adopted. Now ‗Satyagraha‘ was 
the weapon to be used with the wider participation of labour, artisan 
and peasant masses. The symbol of this change was to be khadi, which 
soon became the uniform of nationalists. India‘s Swaraj would be a 
reality only when the masses awakened and became active in political 
work. Almost the entire country was electrified when Gandhi called 
upon the people to observe ‗hartal‘ in March–April 1919 against the 
Rowlatt Act. He combined it with the Khilafat issue which brought 
together Hindus and Muslims. 
 

(b) Jallianwalla Bagh Massacre  
 

The colonial government was enraged at the mass struggles and 
the enthusiasm of the masses as evidenced in the upsurge all over the 
country. On 13th April 1919, in Amritsar town, in the Jallianwala enclave 
that the most heinous of political crimes was perpetrated on an unarmed 
mass of people by the British regime. More than two thousand people 
had assembled at the venue to peacefully protest against the arrest of 
their leaders Satyapal and Saifudding Kitchlew. Michael O‘Dwyer was 
the Lt. Governor of Punjab and the military commander was General 
Reginald Dyer. They decided to demonstrate their power and teach a 
lesson to the dissenters. The part where the gathering was held had only 
one narrow entrance. Dyer ordered firing on the trapped crowd with 
machine guns and rifles till the ammunition was exhausted. While the 
official figures of the dead was only about 379 the real number was over 
a thousand. Martial law was imposed all over Punjab and people were 
subject to untold indignities.  

 
The entire country was horrified at the brutalities. In Bombay, 

Calcutta, Delhi, Lahore there were widespread protests against the 
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Rowlatt Act where the protesters were fired upon. There was violence in 
many towns and cities. Protesting against the brutalities manycelebrities 
renounced their titles, of whom Ravindranath Tagore was one. 
 

Rabindranath Tagore renounced his knighthood immediately after the 
Jallianwalla Bagh massacre. In his protest letter to the viceroy on May 
31, 1919, Tagore wrote "The time has come when the badge of honour 
makes our shame glaring in their incongruous context of humiliation, 
and, I for my part, wish to stand shorn of all special distinctions, by the 
side of those of my countrymen who for their so-called insignificance are 
liable to suffer degradation not fit for human beings." 

 
 

The two immediate causes responsible for launching the non-
cooperation movement were the Khilafat and the Punjab wrongs. While 
the khilafat issue related to the position of the Turkish Sultan vis-a- vis 
the holy places of Islam, the Punjab issue related to the exoneration of 
the perpetrators of the Jallianwala massacre. While the control over holy 
places of Islam was taken over by non-Islamic powers against the 
assurances of the British rulers, the British courts of enquiry totally 
exonerated Reginald Dyer and Michael O‘Dwyer of the crime 
perpetrated at Jallianwala. 

 
Gandhi and the Congress, who were bent upon Hindu-Muslim 

unity, now stood by their Muslim compatriots who felt betrayed by the 
British regime. The Ali brothers – Shukha and Muhammed – and 
Maulana Abul Kalam Azad were the prime movers in the Khilafat 
movement. 
 

A Sikh teenager who was raised at Khalsa Orphanage named Udham 
Singh saw the happening in his own eyes. To avenge the killings of 
Jallianwalla Bagh, on 30 March 1940, he assassinated Michael O'Dwyer 
in Caxton Hall of London. Udham Singh was hanged at Pentonville jail, 
London 
 

(c) Launch of Non-Cooperation Movement  
 

The Khilafat Conference, at the instance of Gandhi, decided to 
launch the non-cooperation movement from 31 August 1920. Earlier an 
all party meet at Allahabad had decided on a programme of boycott of 
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government educational institutions and their law courts. The Congress 
met in a special session at Calcutta in September 1920 and resolved to 
accept Gandhi‘s proposal on non-cooperation with the colonial state till 
such time as Khilafat and Punjab grievances were redressed and self-
government established.  
Non-cooperation movement included boycott of schools, colleges, 
courts, government offices, legislatures, foreign goods, return of 
government conferred titles and awards. Alternatively, national schools, 
panchayats were to be set up and swadeshi goods manufactured and 
used. The struggle at a later stage was to include no tax campaign and 
mass civildisobedience, etc. A regular Congress session held at Nagpur 
in 1920 endorsed the earlier resolutions. Another important resolution at 
Nagpur was to recognize and set up linguistic Provincial Congress 
Committees which drew a large number of workers into the movement. 
In order to broad base the Congress, the workers were to reach out to 
the villages and enroll the villagers in the Congress on a nominal fee of 
four annas (25 paise). The overall character of the Congress underwent 
change and an atmosphere where a large majority of the masses could 
develop a sense of belonging to the nation and the national struggle 
developed. But it also led to some conservatives who were opposed to 
mass participation in the struggle to leave the Congress. Thus the 
Congress under Gandhi was shedding its elitist character, becoming a 
mass organization and in a real sense ‗National‘. 
 

(d) Impact of Gandhi’s Leadership  
 

Thousands of schools and hundreds of colleges and vidyapeethas 
were established by the natives as alternatives to the government 
institutions. Several leading lawyers gave up their practice. Thousands 
of school and college students left the government institutions. The Ali 
brothers were arrested and jailed on sedition charges. The Congress 
committees called upon people to launch civil disobedience movement, 
including no tax movements if the Congress committees of their region 
were ready. The government as usual resorted to repression. Workers 
were arrested indiscriminately and put behind bars. The visit of Prince 
of Wales in 1921to several cities in India was also boycotted. The 
calculation of the colonial government that the visit of the Prince would 
evoke loyal sentiments of the Indian people was proved wrong. Workers 
and peasants had gone on strike across the country. Gandhi promised 
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Swaraj, if Indians participated in the non-cooperation movement on 
non-violent mode within a year. 

 
South India surged forward during this phase of the struggle. The 

peasants of Andhra, withheld payment of taxes to the zamindars and the 
whole population of Chirala-Perala refused to pay taxes and vacated the 
town en-mass. Hundreds of village Patels and Shanbogues resigned 
their jobs. Non-Cooperation movement in Tamil Nadu was organised 
and led by stalwarts like C. Rajagopalachari, S. Satyamurthi and Periyar 
E.V.R. In Kerala, peasants organized anti-jenmi struggles.  
The Viceroy admitted in a letter to the Secretary of State that the 
movement had seriously affected lower classes in certain areas of UP, 
Bengal, Assam, Bihar and Orissa the peasants have been affected. 
Impressed by the intensity of the movement, in a special session the 
Congress reiterated the intensification of the movement.In February 
1922 Gandhi announced that he would lead a mass civil disobedience, 
including no tax campaigns, at Bardoli, if the government did not ensure 
press freedom and release the prisoners within seven days.  
 
(e) Chauri Chaura Incident and Withdrawal of the Movement  
 
 The common people and the nationalist workers were exuberant 
that Swaraj would dawn soon and participated actively in the struggle. 
It had attracted all classes of people including the tribals living in the 
jungles. But at the same time sporadic violence was also witnessed along 
with arson. In Malabar and Andhra two very violent revolts also took 
place. In the Rampa region of coastal Andhra the tribals revolted under 
the leadership of Alluri Sitarama Raju. In Malabar, Muslim (Mapilla) 
peasants rose up in armed rebellion against upper caste landholders and 
the British government. 
 

Chauri-Chaura, a village in Gorakhpur district of UP had an 
organized volunteer group which was participating and leading the 
picketing of liquor shops and local bazaar against high prices. On 5 
February 1922, a Congress procession, 3000 strong, was fired upon by 
police Enraged by the firing, the mob attacked and burnt down the 
police station. 22 policemen lost their lives. It was this incident which 
made Gandhi announce the suspension of the non-cooperation 
movement.  
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The Congress Working Committee ratified the decision at Bardoli, 
to the disappointment of the nationalist workers. While the younger 
workers resented the decision, the others who had faith in Gandhi 
considered it a tactical retreat. Both Jawaharlal Nehru and Subhas Bose 
were critical of Gandhi, who was arrested and sentenced to 6 years in 
prison. Thus ended the non-cooperation movement. 

 
The Khilafat issue was made redundant when the people of 

Turkey under the leadership of Mustafa Kamal Pasha rose in revolt and 
stripped the Sultan of his political power and abolished the Caliphate 
and declared that religion and politics could not go together. 
 

Swarajist Party and its Activities  
 

Following the suspension of Non-cooperation the question was 
what next? Chittaranjan Das and Motilal Nehru proposed a new line of 
activity. They wanted to return to active politics which included entry 
into electoral politics and demonstrate that the nationalists were capable 
of obstructing the working of the reformedlegislature by capturing them 
and arousing nationalist spirit. This group came to be called the 
‗Swarajists and pro-changers‘. In Tamil Nadu, Satyamurti joined this 
group.  
 

There was another group which opposed council entry and 
wanted to continue the Gandhian line by mobilizing the masses. This 
team led by Rajagopalachari, Vallabhai Patel and Rajendra Prasad was 
called ‗No changers.‘ They argued that electoral politics would divert 
the attention of nationalists and pull them away from the work of mass 
mobilization and their issues. They favoured the continuation of the 
Gandhian constructive programme of spinning, temperance, Hindu-
Muslim unity, removal of untouchability and mobilise rural masses and 
prepare them for new mass movements. The pro-changers launched the 
Swarajya party as a part of the Congress. A truce was soon worked out 
and both the groups would engage themselves in the Congress 
programmes and their work should complement each other‘s activities 
under the leadership of Gandhi, though Gandhi personally favoured 
constructive work.  

 
The Swarajya party did reasonably well in the elections to Central 

Assembly by winning 42 of the 101 seats open for election. With the 



 

50 | P a g e APPOLO STUDY CENTRE PH: 044-24339436, 42867555, 9840226187 
 

cooperation of other members they were able to stall many anti-people 
legislations of the colonial regime, and were successful in exposing the 
inadequacy of the Act of 1919. But their efforts and enthusiasm petered 
out as time passed by and consciously or unconsciously they came to be 
co-opted by the Government as members of several committees 
constituted by it.  

 
In the absence of nationalist mass struggle, fissiparous tendencies 

started rising their head. There were a series of communal riots with 
fundamentalist elements occupying thespace. Even the Swaraj party was 
affected by the sectarianism as one group in the name of ‗responsivists‘ 
started cooperating with the government, claiming to safeguard ―Hindu 
interests‖. The Muslim fundamentalists similarly seized the space 
created by the lull in national struggle and started fanning communal 
feeling. Rise of Left Radicalism Gandhi was pained at the developments. 
To contain the communal frenzy he went on a 21 day fast. 
 

Left Movement 
 

Meanwhile socialist ideas and its activists also had filled some 
space through their work among peasants and workers. The labour and 
peasant movements were organized by the ‗leftists‘. Marxism as an 
ideology to criticise colonialism and capitalism had gained ground. It 
manifested itself in the organization of students and youth apart from 
trade unions. Jawaharlal Nehru and Subhas Bose contributed to the 
spread of leftist ideology. They argued that both colonial exploitation 
and the internal exploitation by the emerging capitalists should be 
fought. A group of youngsters with S A. Dange, M.N Roy, Muzaffar 
Ahmed along with elderly persons such as Singaravelu form Tamilnadu 
founded the peasants and worker‘s parties. The government came down 
heavily on the communist-socialists and the revolutionaries a series of 
‗conspiracy cases‘ such as Kanpur, Meerut, Kakori were booked.  

 
It was at this juncture Bhagat Singh, Chandrashekar Azad, Rajguru 

and Sukhdev emerged on the scene. The Naujawan Bharat Sabha, 
Hindustan Republican Associationwere started and thousands of 
youngmen and women became active anti-colonialists and 
revolutionaries. Youth and student conferences were organized all over 
the country. Meanwhile Ramprasad Bismil and Ashfaq-ullah were 
convicted to death and 17 others were sentenced to long term 
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imprisonment in the Kakori conspiracy case. Bhagat Singh, 
Chandrashekar Azad and Rajguru, enraged at the police brutality and 
death of Lajpat Rai, killed Saunders, the British police officer who led 
the lathi charge at Lahore. Bhagat Singh and Batukeswar Dutt threw a 
bomb into the central Assembly hall on 8 April 1929. In 1929 the Meerut 
conspiracy case was filed and three dozen communist leaders were 
sentenced to long spells of jail terms. All these developments and 
incidents are discussed in detail in the next lesson. 
 
Simon Commission– Nehru Report – Lahore Congress  
 

The British were due to consider and announce another instalment 
of constitutional reforms some time in 1929–30. In preparation, it 
announced the setting up of Indian Statutory commission (known as 
‗Simon Commission‘ after its chairman). The commission had only 
whitemen as members and it was an insult to Indians. The Congress at it 
annual session in Madras in 1927 resolved to boycott the commission. 
The Muslim league and the Hindu Mahasabha also supported the 
decision. A series of conferences were held and the consensus was to 
work for an alternative proposal. Mostof the parties agreed to challenge 
the colonial attitude towards India and the result was the Motilal Nehru 
Report. However the All- Parties meet held in 1928 December at 
Calcutta failed to accept it on the issue of communal representation. 
 
Simon Go Back 
 

But the most important development was the popular protest 
against the Simon Commission. Whenever the commission went protests 
were held and the slogan ‗Simon Go Back‘ rent the air. The movement 
demonstrated that the masses were gearing up for the next stage of the 
struggle. It was at Calcutta that the Congress met in December 1928. To 
conciliate the left wing it was announced that Jawaharlal would be the 
President of the next session in 1929. Thus Jawaharlal Nehru, son of 
Motilal Nehru, who presided over Congress in 1928, succeeded his 
father. 
 

Lahore Congress Session-Poorna Swaraj  
 

Lahore session of the Congress has a special significance in the 
history of the freedom movement. It was at the Lahore session that the 



 

52 | P a g e APPOLO STUDY CENTRE PH: 044-24339436, 42867555, 9840226187 
 

Congress declared that the objective of the Congress was the attainment 
of complete independence. On 31 December 1929 the tricolour flag of 
freedom was hoisted at Lahore. It was also decided that 26 January 
would be celebrated as the Independence day every year.  
 

It was also announced that civil disobedience would be started 
under the leadership of Gandhi 
.  
Dandi March  
 

As a part of the movement Gandhi announced the ‗Dandi March‘. 
It was a protest against the unjust tax on salt, which is used by all. But 
the colonial government was taxing it and had a near monopoly over it. 
The Dandi March was to cover 375 kms from Gandhi‘s Sabarmati 
Ashram to Dandi on the Gujarat coast. Joined by a chosen band of 78 
followers from all regions and social groups, after informing the colonial 
government in advance, Gandhi set out on the march and reached 
Dandi on the 25th day i.e. 6 April 1930. Throughout the period of the 
march the press covered the event in such a way that it had caught the 
attention of the entire world. He broke the salt law by picking up a fist 
full of salt. It was symbolic of the refusal of Indians to be under the 
repressive colonial government and its unjust laws. 
 

Vedaranyam Salt Satyagraha  
 

In Tamilnadu, a salt march was led by Chakravarthi 
Rajagopalachari (Rajaji) to Vedaranyam. Vedaranyam, situated 150 miles 
from Tiruchirapalli from where march started was an obscure coastal 
village in Thanjavur district. Rajaji had just been elected president of the 
Tamilnadu Congress. The march startedon 13th April and reached 
Vedaranyam on 28th April 1930.  
 

The Thajavur collector J.A Thorne had warned the public of severe 
action if the marchers were harboured. But the Satyagrahis were warmly 
welcomed and provided with food and shelter. Those who dared to 
offer food and shelter were severely dealt with. The Satyagrahis 
marched via Kumbakonam, Semmangudi, Thiruthuraipoondi where 
they were given good reception.  
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The Vedaranyam movement stirred the masses in south India and 
awakened them to the colonial oppression and the need to join the 
struggle. 
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The Round Table Conferences  
 

The Simon Commission had submitted the report to the 
government. The Congress, Muslim league and Hindu Mahasabha had 
boycotted it. The British regime went ahead with the consideration of 
the report. But in the absence of consultations with Indian leaders it 
would have been useless. In order to secure some legitimacy and 
credibility to the report, the government announced that it would 
convene a Round Table Conference (RTC) in London with leaders of 
different shades of Indian opinion. But the Congress decided to boycott 
it, on the issue of granting independence. Everyone knew, more so the 
government, that it would be an exercise in futility if the Congress did 
not participate. 
 

Thus negotiations with Congress were started and the Gandhi-
Irwin pact was signed on March 5, 1931. It marked the end of civil 
disobedience in India. The movement had generated worldwide 
publicity, and Viceroy Irwin was looking for a way to end it. Gandhi 
was released from custody in January 1931, and the two men began 
negotiating the terms of the pact. In the end, Gandhi pledged to give up 
the satyagrahacampaign, and Irwin agreed to release tens of thousands of 
Indians who had been jailed during the movement.  

 
That year Gandhi attended the Second Round Table Conference in 

London as the sole representative of the Congress. The government 
agreed to allow people to make salt for their consumption, release 
political prisoners who had not indulged in violence, and permitted the 
picketing of liquor and foreign cloth shops. The Karachi Congress 
ratified the Gandhi–Irwin pact. However the Viceroy refused to 
commute the death sentence of Bhagat Singh and his comrades.  

 
Gandhi attended the Second RTC but the government was 

adamant and declined to concede his demands. He returned empty 
handed and the Congress resolved on renewing the civil disobedience 
movement. The economic depression had worsened the condition of the 
people in general and of the peasants in particular. There were peasant 
protests all over the country. The leftists were in the forefront of the 
struggles of the workers and peasants. The government was determined 
to crush the movement. All key leaders including Nehru,Khan Abdul 
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Gafar Khan and finally Gandhi were all arrested. The Congress was 
banned. Special laws were enacted to crush the agitations. Over a lakh of 
protesters were arrested and literature relating to nationalism was also 
declared illegal and confiscated. It was a reign of terror that was 
unleashed on the unarmed masses participating in the movement.  
The movement started waning and it was officially suspended in May 
1933 and withdrawn in May 1934. 
 

Emergence of Dr. B.R. Ambedkar and the Separate Electorates  
 

Dr. Ambedkar came to the centre stage of the struggles of the 
oppressed world in the 1920‘s. Born in the then so-called ―untouchable‖ 
caste called Mahar in Central India as the son of an army man, he was a 
brilliant student and was the first to matriculate from his community.  

 
Ambedkar’s Academic Accomplishments  
 

Ambedkar joined the Elphinston College, with the help of a 
scholarship and graduated in 1912. With the help of a scholarship from 
the Maharaja of Barona he went to United States and secured a post-
graduate degree, and doctorate, from the Columbia University. Then he 
went to London to study law and economics.  

 
Ambedkar‘s brilliance caught the attention of many. Already in 

1916, he had participated in an international conference of Anthropology 
and presented a research paper on ‗Castes in India‘, which was 
published later in the Indian Antiquary. The British government which 
was searching for talents among the downtrodden of India invited him 
to interact with the Southborough or the Franchise Committee which 
was collecting evidence on the quantum and qualifications to be fixed 
for the Indian voters.  

 
It was in these interactions that Ambedkar first spoke about 

separate electorates. He arguedthe untouchables be given separate 
electorates and reserved seats. Under this scheme only untouchables 
could vote in the constituencies reserved for them. Ambedkar felt that if 
any untouchable candidate contesting elections were to depend on non-
untouchable voters he or she would be more obliged to the latter and 
would not therefore be in a position to worker at freely for the good of 
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the untouchables. If only untouchable voters were to vote and elect in 
the reserved seats, those elected would be their real representatives.  
 
Ambedkar’s Activism 
 

Ambedkar launched news journals and organizations. Mook 
Nayak (leader of the dumb) was the journal to articulate his views and 
the Bahishkrit Hitakarini Sabha (Association for the welfare of excluded) 
spearheaded his activities. As a member of the Bombay legislative 
council he worked tirelessly to secure removal of disabilities imposed on 
untouchables. He launched the ‗Mahad Satyagraha‘ to establish the civic 
right of the untouchables to public tanks and wells. Ambedkar‘s 
intellectual and public activities drew the attention of all concerned. His 
intellectual attacks were directed against leaders of the Indian National 
Congress and the colonial bureaucracy. In the meanwhile the struggle 
for freedom under Congress and Gandhi‘s leadership had reached a 
decisive phase with their declaration that their objective was to fight for 
complete independence or ‗Purna Swaraj‘ 
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Ambedkar on Separate Electorate for “Untouchables”  
 

Ambedkar was concerned about the future of ―untouchables‖ and 
the oppressed in an independent India which was certain to be under 
the control of Congress under the hegemony of the caste Hindus. He 
renewed his demand for separate electorates, be it before the All-Parties 
conference or the Simon commission or at the Round Table Conference. 
The Congress and Gandhi were worried that separate electorates for 
untouchables would further weaken the national movement, as separate 
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electorates to Muslims, Anglo Indians and other special interests had 
helped the British to successfully pursue its divide and rule policy. 
Gandhi feared that the separation of untouchables from other Hindus 
politically would also have its social impact. 
 

Communal Award  
 

A meeting between Gandhi and Ambedkar on this issue of 
separate electorates before they went to London to attend the Second 
Round Table Conference ended in failure. There was an encounter 
between the two again in the RTC about the same issue. It ended in a 
deadlock and finally the issue was left to be arbitrated by the British 
Prime Minister Ramsay McDonald. The British government announced 
in August 1932 what came to be known as the Communal Award. 
Ambedkar‘s demands for separate electorates with reserved seats were 
conceded. 
 
Poona Pact 
 

Gandhi was deeply upset. He declared that he would resist 
separate electorates to untouchables ‗with his life‘. He went on a fast 
unto death in the Yervada jail where he was imprisoned. There was 
enormous pressure on Ambedkar to save Gandhi‘s life. Consultations, 
confabulations, meetings, prayers were held all over and ultimately after 
a meeting with Gandhi in the jail, the communal award was modified. 
The new agreement, between Ambedkar and Gandhians, called the 
‗Poona Pact‘ was signed. 
 

The Poona Pact took away separate electorates but guaranteed 
reserved seats for the untouchables. The provision of reserved seats was 
incorporated in the constitutional changes which were made. It was also 
built into the Constitution of independent India.  
 
Ambedkar and Party Politics  
 

Ambedkar launched two political parties. The first one was the 
Independent Labour party in 1937 and the second Scheduled Caste 
Federation in 1942. The colonial government recognizing his struggles 
and also to balance its support base used the services of Ambedkar. 
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Thus he was made a member of the Defence Advisory Committee in 
1942, and a few months later, a minister in the Viceroy‘s cabinet.  

 
The crowning recognition of his services to the nation was electing 

him as the chairman of the Drafting Committee of the independent 
India‘s Constitution. After independence Ambedkar was invited to be a 
member of the Nehru cabinet. 
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12th History 
5.Period of radicalism in Anti-imperialist 

Struggles 
 

 

Introduction 
 

The influence of the Left-wing in the Indian National Congress 
and consequently on the struggle for independence was felt in a 
significant manner from the late 1920s. The Communist Party of India 
(CPI) was formed, by M.N. Roy, Abani Mukherji, M.P.T. Acharya, 
Mohammad Ali and Mohammad Shafiq, in Tashkent, Uzbekistan then 
in the Soviet Union in October 1920. This opened a new radical era in the 
anti-imperialist struggles in India.  

 
Even though there were many radical groups functioning in India 

earlier the presence of a Communist state in the form of USSR greatly 
alarmed the British in India. The first batch of radicals reached Peshawar 
on 3 June 1921. They were arrested immediately under the charges of 
being Bolshevik (Russian communist agents) comeing to India to create 
troubles. A series of five conspiracy cases were instituted against them 
between the years 1922 and 1927. The first of these was the Peshawar 
Conspiracy case. This was followed by the Kanpur (Bolshevik) 
Conspiracy case in (1924) and the most famous, the Meerut Conspiracy 
case (1929). Meanwhile, the CPI was formally founded on Indian soil in 
1925 in Bombay.  
 

Various revolutionary groups were functioning then in British 
India, adopting socialist ideas but were not communist parties. Two 
revolutionaries – Bhagat Singh of the Hindustan Revolutionary Socialist 
Association and Kalpana Dutt of the Indian Republican Army that 
organised repeated raids on the Chittagong Armoury in Bengal will be 
the focus of the next section. The Karachi Session of the INC and its 
famous resolutions especially on Fundamental Rights and Duties is dealt 
with next. The last two topics are about the world-wide economic 
depression popularly known as Great Depression and its impact on 
India and Tamil Society and the Industrial Development registered in 
India in its aftermath. The Great Depression dealt a severe blow to the 
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labour force and peasants and consequently influenced the struggle for 
independence in a significant way. 
 
 

Kanpur Conspiracy Case, 1924  
 

The colonial administrators did not take the spread of communist 
ideas lightly. Radicalism spread across the British Provinces – Bombay, 
Calcutta and Madras - and industrial centres like Kanpur in United 
Province (UP) and cities like Lahore where factories had come up quite 
early. As a result, trade unions emerged in the jute and cotton textile 
industries, the railway companies across the country and among 
workers in the various municipal bodies. In order to curb the 
radicalisation of politics, especially to check what was then called 
Bolshevism, repressive measures were adopted by the British 
administration. The Kanpur Conspiracy case of 1924 was one such 
move. Those charged with the conspiracy were communists and trade 
unionists.  
 

The accused were arrested spread over a period of six months. 
Eight of them were charged under Section 121-A of the Indian Penal 
Code – ‗to deprive the King Emperor of his sovereignty of British India, 
by complete separation of India from imperialistic Britain by a violent 
revolution‘, and sent to various jails. The case came before Sessions 
Judge H.E. Holmes who had earned notoriety while serving as Sessions 
Judge of Gorakhpur for awarding death sentence to 172 peasants for 
their involvement in the Chauri Chaura case.  
In the Kanpur Conspiracy case, Muzaffar Ahmed, Shaukat Usmani, 
Nalini Gupta and S. A. Dange were sent to jail, for four years of rigorous 
imprisonmentl. The trial and the imprisonment, meanwhile, led to some 
awareness about the communist activities in India. A Communist 
Defence Committee was formed in British Indiato raise funds and 
engage lawyers for the defence of the accused. Apart from these, the 
native press in India reported the court proceedings extensively. 
 

The trial in the conspiracy case and the imprisonment of some of 
the leaders rather than kill the spirit of the radicals gave a fillip to 
communist activities. In December 1925, a Communist Conference of 
different communist groups, from all over India, was 
held.SingaraveluChettiar from Tamil Nadu took part in this conference. 
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It was from there that the Communist Party of India was established, 
formally, with Bombay as its Headquarters. 
 

13 persons were originally accused in the Kanpur case: (1) M.N. Roy, (2) 
Muzaffar Ahmad, (3) Shaukat Usmani, (4) Ghulam Hussain, (5) S.A. 
Dange, (6) M. Singaravelu, (7) R.L. Sharma, (8) Nalini Gupta, (9) 
Shamuddin Hassan, (10) M.R.S Velayudhun, (11) Doctor Manilal, (12) 
Sampurnananda, (13) Satyabhakta. 8 persons were charge-sheeted: M.N. 
Roy, Muzaffar Ahmad, S.A. Dange, Nalini Gupta, Ghulam Hussain, 
Singaravelu, Shaukat Usmani, and R.L. Sharma. Ghulam Hussain turned 
an approver. M.N. Roy and R.L. Sharma were charged in absentia as 
they were in Germany and Pondicherry (a French Territory) 
respectively. Singaravelu was released on bail due to his ill health. 
Finally the list got reduced to four. 

 
M. Singaravelu (18 February 1860 – 11 February 1946), was born in 
Madras. He was an early Buddhist, and like many other communist 
leaders, he was also associated with Indian National Congress initially. 
However, after sometime he chose a radical path. Along with Thiru. V. 
Kalyanasundaram, he organised many trade unions in South India. On 1 
May 1923, he organised the first ever celebration of May Day in the 
country. He was one of the main organisers of the strike in South Indian 
Railways (Golden Rock, Tiruchirappalli) in 1928 and was prosecuted for 
that. 
 

Meerut Conspiracy Case, 1929  
 
Communist Activities  
 

The Meerut Conspiracy Case of 1929, was, perhaps, the most 
famous of all the communist conspiracy cases instituted by the British 
Government. The late 1920s witnessed a number of labour upsurges and 
this period of unrest extended into the decade of the Great Depression 
(1929–1939). Trade unionism spread over to many urban centres and 
organised labour strikes. The communists played a prominent role in 
organising the working class throughout this period. The Kharagpur 
Railway workshop strikes in February and September 1927, the Liluah 
Rail workshop strike between January and July 1928, the Calcutta 
scavengers‘ strike in 1928, the several strikes in the jute mills in Bengal 
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during July-August 1929, the strike at the Golden Rock workshop of the 
South Indian Railway, Tiruchirappalli, in July 1928, the textile workers‘ 
strike in Bombay in April 1928 are some of the strikes that deserve 
mention.  
 
Government Repression  
 

Alarmed by this wave of strikes and the spread of communist 
activities, the British Government brought two draconian Acts - the 
Trade Disputes Act, 1928 and the Public Safety Bill, 1928. These Acts 
armed the government with powers to curtail civil liberties in general 
and suppress the trade union activities in particular. The government 
was worried about the strong communist influence among the workers 
and peasants. 
 

Determined to wipe out the radical movement, the government 
resorted to several repressive measures. They arrested 32 leading 
activists of the Communist Party, from different parts of British India 
like Bombay, Calcutta, Punjab, Poona and United Provinces. Most of 
them were trade union activists though not all of them were members of 
the Communist Party of India. At least eight of them belonged to the 
Indian National Congress. The arrested also included three British 
communists-Philip Spratt, Ban Bradley and Lester Hutchinson – who 
had been sent by the Communist Party of Great Britain to help build the 
party in India. Like those arrested in the Kanpur Conspiracy Case they 
were charged under Section 121A of the Indian Penal Code. All the 32 
leaders arrested were brought to Meerut (in United Province then) and 
jailed. A good deal of documents that the colonial administration 
described as ‗subversive material,‘ like books, letters, and pamphlets 
were seized and produced as evidence against the accused. 
 

The British government conceived of conducting the trial in Meerut (and 
not, for instance in Bombay from where a large chunk of the accused 
hailed) so that they could get away with the obligations of a jury trial. 
They feared a jury trial could create sympathy for the accused. 

 
Trial and Punishment  
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Meanwhile, a National Meerut Prisoners‘ Defence Committee was 
formed to coordinate defence in the case. Famous Indian lawyers like 
K.F. Nariman and M.C. Chagla appeared in the court on behalf of the 
accused. Even nationalleaders like Gandhi and Jawaharlal Nehru visited 
the accused in jail. All these show the importance of the case in the 
history of our freedom struggle.  
The Sessions Court in Meerut awarded stringent sentences on 16 
January 1933, four years after the arrests in 1929. 27 were convicted and 
sentenced to various duration of transportation. During the trial, the 
Communists made use of their defence as a platform for propaganda by 
making political statements. These were reported widely in the 
newspapers and thus lakhs of people came to know about the 
communist ideology and the communist activities in India. There were 
agitations against the conviction. That three British nationals were also 
accused in the case, the case became known internationally too. Most 
importantly, even Romain Rolland and Albert Einstein raised their voice 
in support of the convicted.  
 

Under the national and international pressure, on appeal, the 
sentences were considerably reduced in July 1933.  
 
Bhagat Singh and Kalpana Dutt  
 
Bhagat Singh’s Background  
 

Bhagat Singh represented a distinct strand of nationalism. His 
radical strand complemented, in a unique way, to the overall ideals of 
the freedom movement. 
 

Bhagat Singh was born to Kishan Singh (father) and Vidyavati 
Kaur (mother) on 28 September 1907 in Jaranwala, Lyallpur district, 
Punjab, now a part of Pakistan. His father was a liberal and his family 
was a family of freedom fighters. The Jallianwala Bagh massacre 
happened when Bhagat Singh was 14 years. Early in his youth, he was 
associated with the Naujawan Bharat Sabha and the Hindustan 
Republican Association. The latter organisation was founded by Sachin 
Sanyal and Jogesh Chatterji. It was reorganised subsequently in 
September 1928 as the Hindustan Socialist Republican Association 
(H.S.R.A) by Bhagat Singh and his comrades. Socialist ideals and the 
October Revolution in Russia of 1917 were large influences on these 
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revolutionaries. Bhagat Singh was one of the leaders of the H.S.R.A 
along with Chandrashekhar Azad, Shivaram Rajguru and Sukhdev 
Thapar. 
 

―I began to study. My previous faith and convictions underwent a 
remarkable modification. The romance of the violent methods alone 
which was so prominent among our predecessors was replaced by 
serious ideas. No more mysticism, no more blind faith. Realism became 
our cult. Use of force justifiable when resorted to as a matter of terrible 
necessity: non-violence as a policy indispensable for all mass 
movements. So much about methods. The most important thing was the 
clear conception of the ideal for which we were to fight….. from Bhagat 
Singh‘s ―Why I am an Atheist‖.  

 
 

Bhagat Singh’s Bomb Throwing  
 

The image that comes to our mind at the very mention of Bhagat 
Singh‘s name is that of the bomb he threw in the Central Legislative 
Assembly on April 8, 1929. The bombs did not kill anybody. It was 
intended as a demonstrative action, an act of protest against the 
draconian laws of the British. They chose the day on which the Trade 
Disputes Bill, an anti-labour legislation was introduced in the assembly.  
 

Lahore Conspiracy Case  
 

Bhagat Singh along with Rajguru, Sukhdev, Jatindra Nath Das and 
21 others were arrested and tried for the murder of Saunders (the case 
was known as the Second Lahore Conspiracy Case). Jatindra Nath Das 
died in the jail after 64 days of hunger strike against the discriminatory 
practices and poor conditions in jail. The verdict in the bomb throwing 
case had been suspended until the trial of Lahore Conspiracy trials was 
over. It was in this case that Bhagat Singh, Rajguru and Sukhdev were 
sentenced to death on 7 October 1930.  
 

A letter from them to the Governor of Punjab shows their courage 
and their optimism over the future of India even while facing deathfor 
the cause of freedom of their country. It says, ‗the days of capitalism and 
imperialism are numbered. The war neither began with us nor is going 
to end with our lives… According to the verdict of your court we had 
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waged a war and we are therefore war prisoners. And we claim to be 
treated as such i.e., we claim to be shot dead instead of being hanged.‖  
 

Some narratives describe Bhagat Singh and his fellow patriots as 
terrorists. This is a misconception. The legendary Bhagat Singh clarified 
how his group is different from the terrorists. He said, during his trial, 
that revolution is not just the cult of bomb and pistol…Revolution is the 
inalienable right of mankind. Freedom is the imperishable birth-right of 
all. The labourer is the real sustainer of society.. To the altar of this 
revolution we have brought our youth as incense, for no sacrifice is too 
great for so magnificent a cause.‘ Symbolically, they also shouted 
Inquilab Zindabad after this defence statement of his in the court.  
 

Bhagat Singh, Rajguru and Sukhdev were hanged early in the 
morning of March 23, 1931 in the Lahore Jail. They faced the gallows 
with courage, shouting Inquilab Zindabad and Down with British 
Imperialism until their last breath. The history of freedom struggle is 
incomplete without the revolutionary strand of nationalism and the 
ultimate sacrifice of these revolutionaries. One more name in the list of 
such fighters is Kalpana Dutt. 
 
Kalpana Dutt (1913–1995)  
 

In the late 1920s a young woman, Kalpana Dutt (known as 
Kalpana Joshi after her marriage to the communist leader P.C. Joshi), 
fired the patriotic imagination of young people by her daring raid of the 
Chittagong armoury. 
 

To understand the heroism of Kalpana Dutt, you should 
understand the revolutionary strand of nationalism that attracted 
women like her to these ideals. You have already learnt that there 
existed many revolutionary groups in British India. The character of 
these organisations gradually changed from being ones that practiced 
individual annihilation to organising collective actions aimed at larger 
changes in the system.  
 

As Surya Sen, the revolutionary leader of Chittagong armoury 
raid, told Ananda Gupta, ‗a dedicated band of youth must show the 
path of organised armed struggle in place of individual action. Most of 
us will have to die in the process but our sacrifice for such noble cause 
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will not go in vain.‘ When revolutionary groups like the Yugantar and 
the Anushilan Samiti began stagnating in the mid-1920s, new groups 
sprang out of them. Among them, the most important group was the 
one led by Surya Sen, a school teacher by profession, in Bengal. He had 
actively participated in the Non-cooperation movement and woreKhadi. 
His group was closely working with the Chittagong unit of the Indian 
National Congress. 
 

The H.S.R.A was a renewed chapter of the Hindustan Republican 
Association. Its aim was the overthrow of the capitalist and imperialist 
government and establish a socialist society through a revolution. The 
H.S.R.A involved a number of actions such as the murder of Saunders in 
Lahore. In that, Saunders was mistaken for the Superintendent of Police, 
Lahore, James A. Scott who was responsible for seriously assaulting Lajpat 
Rai, in December 1928, and Rai‘s subsequent death. They also made an 
attempt to blow up the train in which Lord Irwin (Governor General and 
Viceroy of India, 1926-1931) was travelling, in December 1929, and a large 
number of such actions in Punjab and UP in 1930. 
 

Chittagong Armoury Raid  
 

Surya Sen‘s revolutionary group, the Indian Republican Army, 
was named after the Irish Republican Army. They planned a rebellion to 
occupy Chittagong in a guerrilla-style operation. The Chittagong 
armouries were raided on the night of 18 April 1930. Simultaneous 
attacks were launched on telegraph offices, the armoury and the police 
barracks to cut off all communication networks including the railways to 
isolate the region. It was aimed at challenging the colonial 
administration directly.  

The revolutionaries hoisted the national flag and symbolically 
shouted slogans such as Bande Matram and Inquilab Zindabad. The 
raids and the resistance continued for the next three years. Often, they 
operated from thevillages and the villagers, gave food and shelter to the 
revolutionaries and suffered greatly at the hands of police for this. Due 
to the continuous nature of the actions, there was an Armoury Raid 
Supplementary Trial too. It took three years to arrest Surya Sen, in 
February 1933, and eleven months before he was sent to the gallows on 
12 January 1934. Kalpana Dutt was among those who participated in the 
raids. 
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On 13 June 1932 in a face-to-face battle against government forces, two of 
the absconders of the Armoury Raid were killed, while they in turn killed 
Capt. Cameron, Commander of the government forces in the village of 
Dhalghat in the house of a poor Brahmin widow, Savitri Debi. After the 
incident the widow was arrested together with her children. Despite many 
offers and temptations, not a word could the police get out of the widow. 
They were uneducated and poor, yet they resisted all the temptation offers 
of gold and unflinchingly could bear all the tortures that were inflicted 
upon them.  
—From Kalpana Dutt‘s autobiography 
ChittagongArmouryRaiders‘Reminiscences. 

 

Women in Action  
 

While Bhagat Singh represented young men who dedicated their 
lives to the freedom of the country, Kalpana Dutt represented the young 
women who defied the existing patriarchal set up and took to arms for 
the liberation of their motherland. Not only did they act as messengers 
(as elsewhere) but they also participated in direct actions, fought along 
with men, carrying guns.  

 
Kalpana Dutt‘s active participation in the revolutionary 

Chittagong movement led to her arrest. Tried along with Surya Sen, 
Kalpana was sentenced to transportation for life. The charge was 
―waging war against the King Emperor.‖ As all their activities started 
with the raid on the Armoury, the trial came to be known as the 
Chittagong Armoury Raid Trial.  

 
Kalpana Dutt recalls in her book Chittagong Armoury Raiders 

Reminiscences the revolutionary youth of Chittagong wanted ―to inspire 
self-confidence by demonstrating that even without outside help it was 
possible to fight the Government. 
 
 
 
 Karachi Session of the Indian National Congress, 1931  
 

The Indian National Congress, in contrast to the violent actions of 
revolutionaries, mobilised the masses for non-violent struggles. The 
Congress under the leadership of Gandhi gave priority to the problems 
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of peasants. In the context of great agrarian distress, deepened by world-
wide economic depression, the Congressmobilised the peasantry. The 
Congress adopted a no-rent and no-tax campaign as a part of its civil 
disobedience programme. Under the pressure of Great Depression, 
socio-economic demands were sharply articulated in its Karachi Session 
of the Indian National Congress.  
 

The freedom struggle was taking a new shape. Peasants organised 
themselves into Kisan Sabhas and industrial workers were organized by 
the trade unions, made their presence felt in a big way in the freedom 
struggle. The Indian National Congress had become a mass party during 
the 1930s. The Congress leadership, which was now taking a left turn 
under Nehru‘s leadership, began to talk about an egalitarian society 
based on social and economic justice.  
The Karachi session held in March 1931, presided over by Sardar 
Valabhbhai Patel, adopted a resolution on Fundamental Rights and 
Duties and provided an insight into what the economic policy of an 
independent India. In some ways, it was the manifesto of the Indian 
National Congress for independent India. These rights and the social 
and economic programmes were derived from a firm conviction that 
political freedom and economic freedom were inseparable.  
 

Even a cursory look at the fundamental rights resolution will tell 
you that all the basic rights that the British denied to the Indians found a 
prominent place in the Resolution. The colonial government curtailed 
civil liberties and freedom by passing draconian acts and ordinances. 
Gandhian ideals and Nehru‘s socialist vision also found a place in the 
list of rights that the Indian National Congress promised to ensure in 
free India. 
 

The existing social relations, especially the caste system and the 
practice untouchability, were also challenged with a promise to ensure 
equal access to public places and institutions.  

 
The Fundamental Rights, in fact, found a place in the Part III of the 

Constitution of India– Fundamental Rights - and some of them went into 
Part IV, the Directive Principles of the State policy. You will study more 
on these in unit 13 of the second volume in the discussion on the 
Constitution of India.  
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The Great Depression and its Impact on India  
 

The Great Depression was a severe and prolonged economic crisis 
which lasted for about a decade from 1929. The slowdown of the 
economic activities, especially industrial production, led to crises like 
lockouts, wage cut, unemployment and starvation. It began in North 
America and affected Europe and all the industrial centres in the world. 
As the world was integrated by the colonial order in its economic 
sphere, developments in one part of the world affected other parts as 
well.  
 

The crash in the Wall Street (where the American Stock Exchange 
was located) triggered an economic depression of great magnitude. The 
Depression hit India too. British colonialism aggravated the situation in 
India. Depression affected both industrial and agrarian sectors. Labour 
unrest broke out in industrial centres such as Bombay, Calcutta, Kanpur, 
United Province and Madras against wage cuts, lay-offsand for the 
betterment of living conditions. In the agriculture sector, prices of the 
agricultural products, which depended on export markets like jute and 
raw cotton fell steeply. The depression brought down the value of 
Indian exports from Rs. 311 crores in 1929–1930 to Rs 132 crores in 1932–
33. Therefore, the 1930s witnessed the emergence of the Kisan Sabhas 
which fought for rent reduction, relief from debt traps and even for the 
abolition of Zamindari.  
 

The only positive impact was on the Indian industrial sector that 
could use the availability of land at reduced prices and labour at cheap 
wage rates. The weakening ties with Britain and other capitalist 
countries created a condition where growth was recorded in some of the 
Indian industries. Yet only the industries which fed the local 
consumption thrived.  
 
Industrial Development in India  
 

The British trade policy took a heavy toll on the indigenous 
industry. Industrialization of India was not part of British policy. Like 
other colonies, India was treated as a raw material procurement area 
and a market for their finished goods.  
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Despite this, industrial expansion took place in India, because of 
certain unforeseen circumstances, first during the course of the First 
World War and then during the Great Depression.  

 
The first Indian to start a cotton mill was Cowasjee Nanabhoy 

Davar (1815–73), a Parsi, in Bombay in 1854. This was known as the 
Bombay Spinning and Weaving Company. The city‘s leading traders, 
mostly Parsis, contributed to this endeavour. The American Civil War 
(1861–65) was a boon to the cotton farmers. But after the Civil War when 
Britain continued to import cotton from America, Indian cotton 
cultivators came to grief. But Europeans started textile mills in India, 
taking advantage of the cheapness of cotton available. Ahmedabad 
textiles mills were established by Indian entrepreneurs andboth 
Ahmedabad and Bombay became prominent centres of cotton mills. By 
1914, there were 129 spinning, weaving and other cotton mills within 
Bombay presidency. Between 1875–76 and 1913-14, the number of cotton 
textile mills in India increased from 47 to 271. 
 

An important landmark in the establishment of industries in India 
was the expansion of the railways system in India. The first passenger 
train ran in 1853, connecting Bombay with Thane. By the first decade of 
the twentieth century, railways was the biggest engineering industry in 
India. This British-managed industry, run by railway companies, 
employed 98,723 persons in 1911. The advent of railways and other 
means of transport and communication facilities helped the 
development of various industries.  
 

Jute was yet another industry that picked up in India in the late 
nineteenth and early twentieth century. The first jute mill in Calcutta 
was founded in 1855. The growth of jute industry was so rapid and by 
1914, there were 64 mills in Calcutta Presidency. However, unlike the 
Bombay textile industry, these mills were owned by Europeans. Though 
the industrial development in the nineteenth century was mainly 
confined to very limited sectors like cotton, jute, etc., efforts were made 
to diversify the sectors. For example, theBengal Coal Company was set 
up in 1843 in Raiganj by Dwarakanath Tagore (1794–1847), grandfather 
of Rabindranath Tagore. The coal industry picked up after 1892 and its 
growth peaked during First World War years.  
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It was in the early twentieth century, industries in India began to 
diversify. The first major steel industry – Tata Iron and Steel Company 
(TISCO) – was set up by the Tatas in 1907 as a part of swadeshi effort in 
Sakchi, Bihar. Prior to this, a group of Europeans had attempted in 1875 
to found the Bengal Iron Company. Following this, the Bengal Iron and 
Steel Company was set up in 1889. However, TISCO made a huge 
headway than the other endeavourers in this sector. Its production 
increased from 31,000 tons in 1912–13 to 1,81,000 tons in 1917–18.  
 

The First World War gave a landmark break to the 
industrialisation of the country. For the first time, Britain‘s strategic 
position in the East was challenged by Japan. The traditional trade 
routes were vulnerable to attack. To meet the requirements, 
development of industries in India became necessary. Hence, Britain 
loosened its grip and granted some concessions to the Indian capitalists. 
Comparative relaxation of control by the British government and the 
expansion of domestic market due to the War, facilitated the process of 
industrialisation. For the first time, an industrial commission 
wasappointed in 1916. During the war-period, the cotton and jute 
industries showed much growth. Steel industry was yet another sector 
marked by substantial growth. 
 

Other industries showing progress were paper, chemicals, cement, 
fertilisers, tanning, etc. The first Indian owned paper mill – Couper 
Paper Mill – was set up in 1882 in Lucknow. Following this, Itaghur 
Paper Mill and Bengal Paper Mill, both owned by Europeans, were 
established. Cement manufacturing began in 1904 in Madras with the 
establishment of South Indian Industries Ltd. Tanning industry began in 
the late nineteenth century and a government leather factory wasset up 
in 1860 in Kanpur. The first Indian-owned National Tannery was 
established in 1905 in Calcutta. The gold mining in Kolar also started in 
the late nineteenth century in the Kolar mining field, Mysore.  
The inter-war period registered growth in manufacturing industries. 
Interestingly the growth rate was far better than Britain and even better 
than the world average. After a short slug in 1923–24, the output of 
textile industry began to pick up. During the interwar period, the 
number of looms and spindles increased considerably.  
 

In 1929–30, 44 per cent of the total amount of cotton piece goods 
consumed in India came from outside, but by 1933–34, after the Great 
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Depression, the proportion had fallen to 20.5 percent. Other two 
industries which registered impressive growth were sugar and cement. 
The Interwar years saw a growth in the shipping industry too. The 
Scindia Steam Navigation Company Limited (1919) was the pioneer. In 
1939, they even took over the Bombay Steam Navigation Company Ltd., 
a British concern. Eight Indian concerns were operational in this sector. 
A new phase of production began with the Second World War, which 
led to the extension of manufacturing industries to machineries, 
aircrafts, locomotives, and so on 
 
 

Jamsetji Nusserwanji Tata, popularly known as J. N. Tata (1839– 1904), 
came from a Parsi (Zoroastrian) business family in Navsari, Baroda. The 
first successful Indian entrepreneur, he is called the father of the Indian 
modern industry. In order to help his father‘s business, he travelled all 
over the world and this exposure helped him in his future endeavours. 
His trading company, established in 1868, evolved into the Tata Group. 
A nationalist, he called one of the mills established in Kurla, Bombay 
―Swadeshi‖. His children Dorabji Tata and Ratanji Tata followed his 
dream and it was Dorabji Tata who finally realised the long term dream 
of his father to establish an iron and steel company in 1907. His 
enthusiasm was such that he spent two years in US to learn from the 
American Iron Industrialists. His yet another dream to set up a 
hydroelectric company did not materialize during his life time. 
However, the first major Hydroelectric project – Tata Hydroelectric 
Company–was set up in 1910. With great foresight the Tatas founded the 
Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore. 

 
 

Industrial Development in Tamilnadu during the Depression  
 

The industrial growth in the Madras Presidency was substantial. 
In Coimbatore, after Stanes Mill (Coimbatore Spinning and Weaving 
Mills) was established in 1896, no other mill could come up. The 
objective conditions created by the Depression like fall in prices of land, 
cheapness of labour and low interest rates led to the expansion of textile 
industry in Coimbatore. Twenty nine mills and ginning factories were 
floated in the Coimbatore area during 1929-37. A cement factory started 
at Madukkarai in Coimbatore district in 1932 gave fillip to the cement 
industryin the state. The number of sugar factories in the province rose 
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from two to eleven between 1931 and 1936. There were also proliferation 
of rice mills, oil mills and cinema enterprise during this period. 
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7. Last Phase of Indian National Movement 
 
 

Introduction 
 

The outbreak of Second World War and Britain‘s decision to 
involve India in the War without consulting Congress ministries in 
provinces, provoked the leaders of Indian National Congress and 
Gandhi. The Congress ministers resigned in protest. Gandhi launched 
the individual Satyagraha in October 1940 to keep up the morale of the 
Congress. In the meantime, the election of Subash Chandra Bose as 
Congress President upset Gandhi this led to Bose‘s resignation. Later 
Bose started his Forward Bloc Party. After his escape to Germany and 
Singapore formed Indian National Army and carried on his 
revolutionary activities independent of the Congress movement.  
 

The Cripps Mission arrived in March 1942 to assuage the 
nationalists. But its proposals bore no fruit. Gandhi decided to embark 
on the Quit India Movement in August 1942. The British arrested all 
prominent leaders of the Congress and put down the movement with an 
iron hand. Gandhi languished in jail until May 1944. Then came the 
Cabinet Mission, whose plan was eventually accepted by the Congress. 
However, Jinnah and the Muslim League, persisting in their Pakistan 
demand, announced Direct Action Day programme that ignited 
communal riots in East Bengal. Gandhi began his tour in the riot-hit 
Naokali. Rajaji‘s compromise formula and Wavell plan and the Simla 
conference convened to consider the latter‘s plan did not help to resolve 
the deadlock. In the meantime, Royal Indian Navy revolted, prompting 
the British to quicken the process of Independence. Mountbatten was 
appointed governor general to oversee independence and the partition 
of the subcontinent into India and Pakistan.  
 
Individual Satyagraha  
 

Unlike in the past, where Gandhi‘s campaign had assumed a mass 
character, Gandhi decided on the strategy of individual Satyagraha so 
that the war against fascism was not hampered. The satyagrahis were 
handpicked by Gandhi and their demand was restrictedto asserting their 
freedom of speech to preach against participation in the war. The chosen 
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satyagrahi was to inform the District Magistrate of the date, time and 
place of the protest. On reaching there at the appointed time, and 
publicly declare the following: ‗It is wrong to help the British War effort 
with men or money. The only worthy effort is to resist all war efforts 
with non-violent resistance‘ and offer arrest.  
The programme began on October 17, 1940 with Vinobha Bhave offering 
Satyagraha near his Paunar ashram in Maharashtra. Gandhi suspended 
the Satyagraha in December 1941. It was revived with some changes and 
groups offered satyagrahasfrom January 1941 and was eventually 
withdrawn in August 1941.  
 
August Offer  
 

In d i v i d u a l Satyagraha was the Congress response to the 
August offer by the Viceroy, Lord Linlithgow. On August 8, 1940, 
Linlithgow offered the following: Dominion status at some unspecified 
future; expansion of the Viceroy‘s Council (or the Executive Council) to 
accommodate more Indians in it; setting up a War Advisory Council 
with Indians in it; recognition of the rights of the minority; and a 
promise to recognize the Indian peoples‘ right to draft a constitution at 
some future date after the war. 
 

Removal of Bose from Congress  
  

The August offer came too late for the Congress to even negotiate 
a settlement. The Congress, at this time, was losing its sheen. Its 
membership had fallen from 4.5 million in 1938–39 to 1.4 million in 1940-
41. Subhas Chandra Bose was isolated within the Congress, as most 
leaders in the organisation‘s top refused cooperation with him. Bose 
resigned and the AICC session at Calcutta elected Rajendra Prasad as 
president. Bose founded the Forward Bloc to function within the 
Congress and was eventually removed from all positions in the 
organization in August 1939.  
 
Lahore Resolution  
 

The arrogance displayed by the colonial government and its 
refusal to find a meeting point between the promise of dominion status 
at some future date and the Congress demand for the promise of 
independence after cessation of the war as a pre-condition to support 
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war efforts was drawn from another development. That was the demand 
for a separate nation for Muslims. Though the genesis of a separate unit 
or units consisting of Muslim majority regions in the Eastern and North-
Western India was in the making since the 1930s, the resolution on 
March 23, 1940, at Lahore was distinct. 
 

There is ample evidence that the Muslim League and its associates 
were given the necessary encouragement to go for such a demand by the 
colonial administrators. The resolution, then, gave the colonial rulers a 
certain sense of courage to refuse negotiating with the Indian National 
Congress even while they sought cooperation in the war efforts.  
 

In many ways the Congress at the time was weaker in the 
organizational sense. Moreover, its leaders were committed to the idea 
that the British war efforts called for support given the character of the 
Axis powers – Germany, Italyand Japan – being fascist and thus a 
danger for democracy. Bose was the only leader who sought non-
cooperation with the allied forces and active cooperation with the Axis 
powers.  
 

All these were the important markers of 1940. Things however 
changed soon with the Japanese advance in Southeast Asia and the 
collapse of the British army. It led to a sense of urgency among the 
colonial rulers to ensure cooperation for the war efforts in India even 
while not committing to freedom. Winston Churchill, now heading the 
war cabinet, dispatched Sir Stafford Cripps to talk with the Congress. 
 
Cripps Mission  
 
Japan Storm South-East Asia 
 

The year 1941 was bad for the allied forces. France, Poland, 
Belgium, Norway and Holland had fallen to Germany and Great Britain 
was facing destruction as well. Of far more significance to India was 
Japan‘s march into South-east Asia. This was happening alongside the 
attack on Pearl Harbour, where Japanese war-planes bombed the 
American port on December 7, 1941. US President F.D. Roosevelt and 
Chinese President Chiang Kai-Shek were concerned with halting Japan 
on its march. India, thus, came on their radar and the two put pressure 
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on British Prime Minister, Churchill to ensure cooperation for the war 
from the Indian people.  
 

By the end of 1941, the Japanese forces had stormed through the 
Philippines, Indo- China, Indonesia, Malaysia and Burma and were 
waiting to knock at India‘s doors in the North-East. The way the South 
East Asian region fell raised concerns to Britain and the Indian National 
Congress. The British forces ran without offering any resistance. The 
Indian soldiers of the British Indian Army were left to the mercy of the 
Japanese forces. It was from among them that what would later on to 
become the Indian National Army (INA) would be raised. We will study 
that in detail in thislesson (in Section 7.3). Churchill was worried that 
Calcutta and Madras might fall in Japanese hands. Similar thoughts ran 
in the minds of the leaders of the Congress too and they too were 
desperate to seek an honourable way out to offer cooperation in the war 
effort.  
It was in this situation that the Congress Working Committee, in 
December 1941, passed a resolution offering cooperation with the war 
effort on condition that Britain promised independence to India after the 
war and transfer power to Indians in a substantial sense immediately.  
 
Arrival of Cripps  
 

A delegation headed by Sir Stafford Cripps reached India in March 
1942. That Cripps, a Labour party representative in the War cabinet 
under Churchill, was chosen to head the delegation lent credibility to the 
mission. Before setting out to India, he announced that British policy in 
India aimed at ‗the earliest possible realisation of self-government in 
India‘. But the draft declaration he presented before he began 
negotiations fell far short of independence.  
Cripps Proposals  
 

Cripps promised Dominion Status and a constitution-making body 
after the war. The constitution-making body was to be partly elected by 
the provincial assemblies and nominated members from the Princely 
states. The draft also spelt out the prospect of Pakistan. It said that any 
province that was not prepared to accept the new constitution would 
have the right to enter into a separate agreement with Britain regarding 
its future status. The draft did not contain anything new. Nehru recalled 
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later: ‗When I read these proposals for the first time I was profoundly 
depressed.‘ 
 

Rejection of Cripps’ Proposals  
 

The offer of Dominion Status was too little. The Congress also 
rejected the idea of nominated members to the constitution-making 
body and sought elections in the Princely States as in the Provinces. 
Above all these was the possibility of partition. The negotiations were 
bound to breakdown and it did.  
 
Options for Congress in the wake of Pearl Harbour Attack  
 

Churchill‘s attitude towards the Indian National Movement for 
independence in general and Gandhi in particular was one of contempt 
even earlier. He did not change even when Britain needed cooperation 
in the war efforts so desperately. But he came under pressure from the 
US and China.  
 

The Indian National Congress, meanwhile, was pushed against the 
wall. This happened in two ways: the colonial government‘s adamant 
stand against any assurance of independence on the one hand and 
Subhas Bose‘s campaign to join hands with the Axis powers in the fight 
for independence. Bose had addressed the people of India on the Azad 
Hind Radio broadcast from Germany in March 1942. This was the 
context in which Gandhi thought of the Quit India movement. 
 
Quit India Movement  
 

Sometime in May 1942 Gandhi took it upon himself to steer the 
Indian National Congress into action. Gandhi‘s decision to launch a 
mass struggle this time, however, met with reservation from C. 
Rajagopalachari as much as from Nehru. Conditions were ripe for an 
agitation. Prices of commodities had shot up many-fold and there was 
shortage of food-grains too.  
Congress Meet at Wardha  
 

It was in this context that the Working Committee of the Indian 
National Congressmet at Wardha on July 14, 1942. The meeting resolved 
to launch a mass civil disobedience movement. C. Rajagopalachari and 
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Bhulabhai Desai who had reservations against launching a movement at 
that time resigned from the Congress Working Committee. Nehru, 
despite being among those who did not want a movement then bound 
himself with the majority‘s decision in the Working Committee.  
 
'Do or Die'  
 

The futility that marked the Cripps mission had turned both 
Gandhi and Nehru sour with the British than any time in the past. 
Gandhi expressed this in a press interview on May 16, 1942 where he 
said: ‗Leave India to God. If that is too much, then leave her to anarchy. 
This ordered disciplined anarchy should go and if there is complete 
lawlessness, I would risk it.‘ The Mahatma called upon the people to ‗Do 
or Die‘ and called the movement he launched from there as a ‗fight to 
the finish‘.  
 
Quit India  
 

The colonial government did not wait. All the leaders of the Indian 
National Congress, including Gandhi, were arrested early in the 
morning on August 9, 1942. The Indian people too did not wait. The 
immediate response to the pre-dawn arrests was hartals in almost all the 
towns where the people clashed, often violently, with the police. 
Industrial workers across India went on strike. The Tata Steel Plant in 
Jamshedpur closed down by the striking workers for 13 days beginning 
August 20. The textile workers in Ahmedabad struck work for more 
than three months. Industrial towns witnessed strikes for varied periods 
across India.  
 
Brutal Repression  
 

The colonial government responded with brutal repression and 
police resorted to firing in many places. The army was called in to 
suppressthe protest. The intensity of the movement and the repression 
can be made out from the fact that as many as 57 battalions were called 
in as a whole. Aircrafts were used to strafe protesters. The momentum 
and its intensity was such that Linlithgow, wrote to Churchill, 
describing the protests as ‗by far the most serious rebellion since 1857, 
the gravity and extent of which we have so far concealed from the world 
for reasons of military security.‘  
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Though this phase of the protest, predominantly urban, involving 

the industrial workers and the students was put down by use of brutal 
force, the upsurge did not end. It spread in its second phase into the 
villages. A sixty-point increase in prices of food-grains recorded 
between April and August 1942 had laid the seeds of resentment. In 
addition, those leaders of the Congress, particularly the Socialists within, 
who had managed to escape arrest on August 9 fanned into the 
countryside where they organised the youth into guerrilla actions. 
 
Outbreak of Violence  
 

Beginning late September 1942, the movement took the shape of 
attacks and destruction of communication facilities such as telegraph 
lines, railway stations and tracks and setting fire to government offices. 
This spread across the country and was most intense in Eastern United 
Provinces, Bihar, Maharashtra and in Bengal. The rebels even set up 
‗national governments‘ in pockets they liberated from the colonial 
administration. An instance of this was the ‗Tamluk Jatiya Sarkar‘ in the 
Midnapore district in Bengal that lasted until September 1944. There was 
a parallel government in Satara.  
 

Socialists like Jayaprakash Narayan, Achyut Patwardhan, Asaf Ali, 
Yusuf Mehraly and Ram Manohar Lohia provided leadership. Gandhi‘s 
21 day fast in jail, beginning February 10, 1943, marked a turning point 
and gave the movement (and even the violence in a limited sense) a 
great push. 
 

Spread and Intensity of the Movement  
 

The spread of the movement and its intensity can be gauged from 
the extent of force that the colonial administration used to put it down. 
By the end of 1943, the number of persons arrested across India stood at 
91, 836. The police shot dead 1060 persons during the same period. 208 
police outposts, 332 railway stations and 945 post offices were destroyed 
or damaged very badly. At least 205 policemen defected and joined the 
rebels. R.H. Niblett, who served as District Collector of Azamgarh in 
eastern United Province, removed from service for being too mild with 
the rebels, recorded in his diary that the British unleashed ‗white terror‘ 
using an ‗incendiary police to set fire to villages for several miles‘ and 
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that ‗reprisals (becoming) the rule of the day.‘ Collective fines were 
imposed on all the people in a village where public property was 
destroyed.  
 
Clandestine Radio  
 

Yet another prominent feature of the Quit India movement was the 
use of Radio by the rebels. The press being censored, the rebels set up a 
clandestine radio broadcast system from Bombay. The transmitter was 
shifted from one place to another in and around the city. Usha Mehta 
was the force behind the clandestine radio operations and its broadcast 
was heard as far away as Madras.  

The Quit India movement was the most powerful onslaught 
against the colonial state hitherto. The movement included the Congress, 
the Socialists, and the Forward Bloc. The movement witnessed 
unprecedented unity of the people and sent a message that the colonial 
rulers could not ignore.  
 
Release of Gandhi  
 

Gandhi‘s release from prison, on health grounds, on May 6, 1944 
led to the revival of the Constructive Programme. Congress committees 
began activities in its garb and the ban on the Congress imposed in the 
wake of the Quit India movement was thus overcome. Thecolonial state, 
meanwhile, put forward a plan for negotiation. Lord Archibald Wavell, 
who had replaced Linlithgow as Viceroy in October 1943, had begun to 
work towards another round of negotiation. The message was clear: The 
British had no option but to negotiate!  
 
 Netaji Subhas Chandra Bose and the INA  
 

A considerably large contingent of the Indian Army was posted on 
the South East Asian countries that were part of the British Empire. They 
were in Malaya, Burma and elsewhere. The forces, however, could not 
stand up to the Japanese army. The command of the British Indian Army 
in the South-East Asian front simply retreated leaving the ranks behind 
as Prisoners of War (POWs).  
 

Mohan Singh, an officer of the British Indian Army in Malaya, 
approached the Japanese for help and they found in this an opportunity. 
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Japan‘s interests lay in colonising China and not much India. The Indian 
POWs with the Japanese were left under Mohan Singh‘s command. The 
fall of Singapore to the Japanese forces added to the strength of the 
POWs and Mohan Singh now had 45,000 POWs under his command. Of 
these, Mohan Singh had drafted about 40,000 men in the Indian National 
Army by the end of 1942. Indians in the region saw the INA as saviours 
against Japanese expansionism as much as the commander and other 
officers held out that the army would march into India but only on 
invitation from the Indian National Congress.On July 2, 1943, Subhas 
Chandra Bose, reached Singapore. From there he went to Tokyo and 
after a meeting with Prime Minister Tojo, the Japanese leader declared 
that his country did not desire territorial expansion into India. Bose 
returned to Singapore and set up the Provisional Government of Free 
India on October 21, 1943. This Provisional Government declared war 
against Britain and the other allied nations. The Axis powers recognised 
Bose‘s Provisional Government as its ally. 
 

After the Indian National Congress acted against Bose in August 1939, 
shunting him out of all offices including as president of the Bengal 
Congress Committee, Bose embarked upon a campaign trail, to mobilise 
support to his position, across India. He was arrested by the British on 
July 3, 1940 under the Defence of India Act. and kept under constant 
surveillance. As the war progressed in Europe Bose believed that 
Germany was going to win. He began to nurture the idea that Indian 
independence could be achieved by joining hands with the Axis powers. 
In the midnight of January 16-17, 1941, Bose slipped out of Calcutta, and 
reached Berlin by the end of March, travelling through Kabul and the 
Soviet Union on an Italian passport. Bose met Hitler and Goebbels in 
Berlin. Both the Nazi leaders were cold and the only concession they 
gave was to set up the Azad Hind Radio. Nothing more came out of his 
rendezvous with Hitler and his aides. With Germany facing reverses, 
Bose found his way to Singapore in July 1943 

 
 

Subash and INA  
 

Bose enlisted civilians too into the INA and one of the regiments 
was made up of women. The Rani of Jhansi regiment of the INA was 
commanded by a medical doctor and daughter of freedom fighter 
Ammu Swaminathan from Madras, Dr Lakshmi. On July 6, 1944, Subhas 
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Bose addressed a message to Gandhi over theAzad Hind Radio from 
Rangoon. Calling him the ‗Father of the Nation‘, Bose appealed to 
Gandhi for his blessing in what he described as ‗India‘s last war of 
independence.‘ 

 

INA with Axis Powers in War  
 

A battalion of the INA commanded by Shah Nawaz accompanied 
the Japanese army, in its march on Imphal. Th is was in late 1944 and the 
Axis powers, including the Japanese forces, had fallen into bad times all 
over. Th e Imphal campaign did not succeed and the Japanese retreated 
before the fi nal surrender to the British command in mid-1945. Shah 
Nawaz and his soldiers of the INA were taken prisoners and charged 
with treason.  
 
INA Trial  
 

Th e INA trials were held at the Red Fort in New Delhi. Th e 
Indian National Congress fi elded its best lawyers in defence of the INA 
soldiers. Nehru, who had given up his legal practice as early as in 1920 
responding to Gandhi‘s call for non-cooperation, wore his black gown to 
appear in defence. Even though the INA did not achieve much 
militarily, the trials made a huge impact in inspiring the masses. Th e 
colonial government‘s arrogance once again set the stage for another 
mass mobilisation. Th e Indian National Congress, aft er the debacle at 
the Simla Conference (June 25 and July 14, 1945) plunged into reaching 
out to the masses by way of public meetings across the country. Th e 
INA fi gured more prominently as an issue in all these meetings than 
even the Congress‘s pitch for votes in the elections (under the 1935 Act) 
that were expected soon. 
 

It was in this context that the colonial rulers sent up three 
prominent officers of the INA – Shah Nawaz Khan, P.K. Sehgal and G.S. 
Dhillon – to trial. Th e press in India reported the trials with all empathy 
and editorials sought the soldiers freed immediately. The INA week was 
marked by processions, hartals and even general strikes across the 
nation demanding release of the soldiers. The choice of the three men to 
be sent up for trial ended up rallying all political opinion behind the 
campaign. Th e Muslim League, the Shiromani Akali Dal and the Hindu 
Maha Sabha, all those who had stayed clear of the Quit India campaign, 
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joined the protests and raised funds for their defence. Although the trial 
court found Sehgal, Dhillon and Shah Nawaz Khan guilty of treason, the 
commander in chief remitted the sentences and set them free on January 
6, 1946. Th e INA trials, indeed, set the stage for yet another important 
stage in the history of the Indian National Movement in February 1946. 
The ratings of the Royal Indian Navy (RIN) raised the banner of revolt. 
 
The Royal Indian Navy Revolt  
 

The economic impact of the war was manifest in rising prices, 
shortage of food- grains and closure of war time industries causing 
retrenchment and employment. This merged with the anti-British 
sentiments evident in the mass scale of the protests revolving around the 
INA trials. B.C. Dutt, a rating (the designation for the Indians employed 
in the various war-ships and elsewhere in the Royal Indian Navy) in the 
HMIS Talwar was arrested for scribbling ‗Quit India‘ on the panel of the 
ship. This provoked a strike by the 1,100 ratings on the ship. The ratings 
resented the racist behaviour of the English commanders, the poor 
quality of the food and abuses that were the norm. Dutt‘s arrest served 
as the trigger for the revolt on February 18, 1946. The day after, the 
revoltwas joined by the ratings in the Fort Barracks and the Castle and a 
large number of them went into the Bombay cities in commandeered 
trucks waving Congress flags and shouting anti-British slogans.Soon, 
the workers in the textile mills of Bombay joined the struggle. 

 
 The trade unions in Bombay and Calcutta called for a sympathy 
strike and the two cities turned into war zones. Barricades were erected 
all over and pitched battles fought. Shopkeepers downed shutters and 
hartals became the order of the day. Trains were stopped in the two 
cities with people sitting on the tracks. On news of the Bombay revolt 
reaching Karachi, ratings in the HMIS Hindustan and other naval 
establishments in Karachi went on a lightning strike on February 19. The 
strike wave spread to almost all the naval establishments across India 
and at least 20,000 ratings from 78 ships and 20 shore establishments 
ended up revolting in the days after February 18, 1946. There were 
strikes, expressing support to the ratings in the Royal Indian Air Force 
stationed in Bombay, Poona, Calcutta, Jessore and Ambala units. The 
sepoys in the army cantonment station at Jabalpur too went on strike.  
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The ratings, in many places, hoisted the Congress, the Communist, 
and the Muslim League flags together on the ship masts during the 
revolt.  
 

The colonial government‘s response was brutal repression. It was, 
indeed, a revolt without a leadership; nor did the ratings movein an 
organised direction. While the trade unions came out in solidarity with 
the ratings in no time and the strikes in Bombay and Calcutta and 
Madras were strong expressions against British rule in India, these did 
not last for long and the ratings were forced to surrender soon.  
 

Sardar Vallabhai Patel, then in Bombay, took the initiative to bring 
the revolt to an end. The RIN mutiny, however, was indeed a glorious 
chapter in the Indian National Movement and perhaps the last act of 
rebellion in the long story of such acts of valour in the cause of 
independence. 

The March 23, 1940 resolution read as follows: ‗That geographically 
contiguous units are demarcated into regions which should be so 
constituted, with such territorial readjustments as may be necessary, that 
the areas in which the Muslims are numerically in a majority as in the 
north-western and eastern zones of India should be grouped to 
constitute ―Independent States‖, in which the constituent units shall be 
autonomous and sovereign.‘ (Source: Sumit Sarkar Modern India 1885-
1947, Pearson, 2018, p 324) 

  
 

Rajaji Proposals and the Wavell Plan 
 
Demand for a Separate Nation  
 

Meanwhile, the communal challenge persisted and the Muslim 
League pressed with its demand for a separate nation. The Lahore 
resolution of the Muslim League in March 1940 had altered the 
discourse from the Muslims being a ‗minority‘ to the Muslims 
constituting a ‗nation‘. Mohammed Ali Jinnah was asserting this right as 
the sole spokesperson of the community. 
 

Rajaji’s Proposals  
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In April 1944, when the Congress leaders were in jail, 
C.Rajagopalachari put out a proposal to resolve the issue. It contained 
the following:  

 
• A post-war commission to be formed to demarcate the 
contiguous districts where the Muslims were in absolute majority 
and a plebiscite of the adult population there to ascertain whether 
they would prefer Pakistan;  
• In case of a partition there would be a mutual agreement to run 
certain essential services, like defence or communication;  
• The border districts could choose to join either of the two 
sovereign states;  
• The implementation of the scheme would wait till after full 
transfer of power.  

 
After his release from prison, Gandhi, in July 1944, proposed talks 

with Jinnah based on what came to be the ‗Rajaji formula‘. The talks did 
not go anywhere.  
 
Wavell Plan  
 

In June 1945 Lord Wavell moved to negotiate and called for the 
Simla conference. The rest of the Congress leaders, including Jawaharlal 
Nehru, Sardar Patel and the Congress president, Maulana Abul Kalam 
Azad were released from jail for this. Wavell had set out on this project 
in March 1945 and sailed to London. There he convinced Churchill of the 
imperative for a Congress–Muslim League coalition government as a 
way to deal with the post-war political crisis.  
 

The Viceroy‘s proposal before the leaders of all political 
formations and most prominently the Congress and the Muslim League 
was setting up of an Executive Council, exclusively with Indians along 
with himself and the commander-in-chief; equal number of 
representatives in thecouncil for the caste Hindus and the Muslims and 
separate representation for the Scheduled Castes; and start of 
discussions for a new constitution.  
The proposal displeased everyone. The Simla Conference held between 
June 25 and July 14, 1945 ended without resolution. The talks broke 
down on the right of the Indian National Congress and the Muslim 
League to nominate members to the Viceroy‘s Council.  
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The Muslim League insisted on its exclusive right to nominate 

Muslim members to the Council. Its demand was that the Congress 
nominees shall only be caste Hindus and that the Indian National 
Congress should not nominate a Muslim or a member from the 
Scheduled Caste! This was seen as a means to further the divide on 
communal lines and deny the Congress the status of representing the 
Indian people. Lord Wavell found a council without Muslim League 
representation as unworkable and thus abandoned the Simla talks.  

 
The years between the Lahore resolution of 1940 and the Simla 

Conference in 1945 marked the consolidation of a Muslim national 
identity and the emergence of Jinnah as its sole spokesperson. It was at a 
convention of Muslim League Legislators in Delhi in April 1946, that 
Pakistan was defined as a ‗sovereign independent state‘. For the first 
time the League also declared its composition in geographical terms as 
‗the region consisting of the Muslim majority provinces of Bengal and 
Assam inthe Northeast and the Punjab, North-West Frontier Province, 
Sind and Baluchistan in the Northwest. The Congress president 
Maulana Abul Kalam Azad rejected this idea and held that the Congress 
stood for a united India with complete independence.  
 

All these were developments after the Simla conference of June–
July 1945 and after Churchill was voted out and replaced by a Labour 
Party government headed by Clement Attlee. Times had changed in a 
substantial sense. British Prime Minister, Attlee had declared the 
certainty of independence to India with only the terms left to be decided. 
 

Mountbatten Plan  
Cabinet Mission 
 

The changed global scenario in the post– World War II context led 
to the setting up of the Cabinet Mission. Headed by Secretary of State for 
India, Sir Stafford Cripps, and A.V. Alexander, the mission landed in 
India in March 1946 and began work on its brief: to set up a national 
government before the final transfer of power. The mission proposed to 
constitute a ‗representative‘ body by way of elections across the 
provinces and the princely states and entrust this body with the task of 
making a constitution for free India. The idea of partition did not figure 
at this stage. Instead, the mission‘s proposal was for a loose-knit 
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confederation in which the Muslim League could dominate the 
administration in the North-East and North- West provinces while the 
Congress would administer rest of the provinces.  
 

Jinnah sounded out his acceptance of the idea on June 6, 1946. The 
Congress, meanwhile, perceived the Cabinet Mission‘s plan as a clear 
sanction for the setting up of a Constituent Assembly. Nehru conveyed 
through his speech at the AICC, on July 7, 1946, that the Indian National 
Congress accepted the proposal. Subsequently, Jinnah on July 29, 1946, 
reacted to this and announced that the League stood opposed to the 
plan. 
 

After elaborate consultations, the viceroy issued invitations on 15 
June 1946 to the 14 men to join the interim government. The invitees 
were: Jawaharlal Nehru, Vallabhbhai Patel, Rajendra Prasad, C. 
Rajagopalachari and Hari Krishna Mahtab (on behalf of the INC); 
Mohammed Ali Jinnah, Liaquat Ali Khan, Mohammed Ismail Khan, 
Khwaja Sir Nazimuddin and Abdul Rab Nishtar (from the Muslim 
League) and Sardar Baldev Singh (on behalf of the Sikh community), Sir 
N.P. Engineer (to represent the Parsis), Jagjivan Ram (representing the 
scheduled castes) and John Mathai (as representative of the Indian 
Christians).  
 

Meanwhile, the Congress proposed Zakir Hussain from its quota 
of five nominees to the interim council. The Muslim League objected to 
this and, on 29 July 1946, Jinnah announced that the League would not 
participate in the process to form the Constituent Assembly. This invited 
a sharp reaction from the British administration. On 12 August 1946, the 
viceroy announced that he was inviting Nehru (Congress president) to 
form the provisional government. After consultation with Nehru, 12 
members of the National Interim Government were announced on 25 
August 1946. Apart from Nehru, the other members were: Vallabhbhai 
Patel, Rajendra Prasad, Asaf Ali, C. Rajagopalachari, Sarat Chandra 
Bose, John Mathai, Sardar Baldev Singh, Sir Shafaat Ahmed Khan, 
Jagjivan Ram, Syed Ali Zaheer and Cooverji Hormusji Bhabha. It was 
stated that two more Muslims will be nominated in due course.  
Five Hindus, three Muslims and one representative each from the 
scheduled castes,Indian Christians, Sikhs and Parsis formed the basis of 
this list. Later Hare Krishna Mahtab was replaced by Sarat Chandra 
Bose. The Parsi nominee, N.P. Engineer was replaced by Cooverji 
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Hormusji Bhabha. In place of the League‘s nominees, the Congress put 
in the names of three of its own men: Asaf Ali, Shafaat Ahmed Khan and 
Syed Ali Zaheer.  
 

The League, meanwhile, gave a call for ‗Direct Action‘ on 16 
August 1946. There was bloodshed in Calcutta and several other places, 
including in Delhi. This was when Gandhi set out on his own course to 
arrive in Calcutta and decided to stay on at a deserted house in 
Beliaghatta, a locality that was worst affected, accompanied only by a 
handful of followers. Muslims who were hounded out of their homes in 
Delhi were held in transit camps (in Purana Quila and other places). It 
was only after Gandhi arrived there (on 9 September 1946) and 
conveyed that the Muslims were Indian nationals and hence must be 
protected by the Indian state (Nehru by then was the head of the interim 
government) that the Delhi authorities began organising rations and 
building latrines.  
 

It was in this context that the Congress agreed to the constitution 
of the interim government. Nehru assumed office on 2 September 1946. 
Yet another round of communal violence broke out across the country 
and more prominently in Bombay and Ahmedabad. Lord Wavell set out 
on another round of discussion and after sounding out Nehru, he 
proposed,once again, to Jinnah that the League participate in the interim 
government. The Muslim League accepted the proposal but Jinnah 
refused to join the cabinet.  
The interim cabinet was reconstituted on October 26, 1946. Those who 
joined on behalf of the League were Liaquat Ali Khan, I.I. Chundrigar, 
A. R. Nishtar, Ghazanfar Ali Khan and Jogendra Nath Mandal. 
 

But there was no let-up in the animosity between the Congress and 
the League and this was reflected in the functioning (rather non-
functioning) of the interim council of ministers. The League, meanwhile, 
was determined against cooperating in the making of the constituent 
assembly. At another level, the nation was in the grip of communal 
violence of unprecedented magnitude. Naokhali in East Bengal was 
ravaged by communal violence. The members of the League who were 
part of the interim government refused to participate in the ‗informal‘ 
consultations that Nehru held before the formal meeting of the cabinet 
in the viceroy‘s presence. The Muslim League, it seemed, were 
determined to wreck the interim government from within.  
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While the Congress scored impressive victories in the July–August 

1946 elections and secured 199 from out of the 210 general seats, the 
Muslim League did equally well in seats reserved for the Muslims. The 
League‘s tally was 76. All but one of the 76 seats came from the Muslim-
reserved constituencies. The League, however, decided against 
participating in the Constituent Assembly. Hence, only 207 members 
attended the first session of the Constituent Assembly on 9 December 
1946. 
 

Meanwhile the functioning of the interim government was far 
from smooth with animosity between the Congress and the League 
growing by the day. The ‗informal‘ meetings of the cabinet intended to 
settle differences before any proposal was taken to the formal meeting 
that the Viceroy presided over, could not be held from the very 
beginning.  
 

The proverbial last straw was the budget proposals presented by 
Liaquat Ali Khan in March 1947. The finance minister proposed a 
variety of taxes on industry and trade and proposed a commission to go 
into the affairs of about 150 big business houses and inquire into the 
allegations of tax evasion against them. Khan called this a ‗socialistic 
budget‘. This, indeed, was a calculated bid to hit the Indian industrialists 
who had, by this time, emerged as the most powerful supporters of the 
Congress. The intention was clear: to hasten the partition and prove that 
there was no way that the League and the Congress could work together 
towards independence.  
 

British Prime Minister Atlee‘s statement in Parliament on February 
20, 1947, that the British were firm on their intention to leave India by 
June 1948 set the pace for another stage. Lord Wavell was replaced as 
Viceroy by Lord Mountbatten on March 22, 1947.  
 
Mountbatten Plan  
 

Mountbatten came up with a definite plan for partition. It involved 
splitting up Punjab into West and East (where the west would go to 
Pakistan) and similar division of Bengal wherein the Western parts will 
remain in India and the East become Pakistan. The Congress Working 
Committee, on 1 May 1947, conveyed its acceptance of the idea of 



 

92 | P a g e APPOLO STUDY CENTRE PH: 044-24339436, 42867555, 9840226187 
 

partition to Mountbatten. The viceroy left for London soonafter and on 
his return disclosed the blueprint for partition and, more importantly, 
the desire to advance the date of British withdrawal to 15 August 1947. 
There were only 11 weeks left between then and the eventual day of 
independence. The AICC met on 15 June 1947. It was here that the 
resolution, moved by Govind Ballabh Pant, accepting partition, was 
approved. It required the persuasive powers of Nehru and Patel as well 
as the moral authority of Gandhi to get the majority in the AICC in 
favour of the resolution.  

 
The period between March 1946 and 15 August 1947 saw many 

tumultuous events such as (i) the setting up of the Cabinet Mission, (ii) 
the formation of the interim government, (iii) the birth of the Constituent 
Assembly and (iv) the widening of rift between the Congress and the 
Muslim League leading to the partition and finally the dawn of 
independence. 
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